

THE FUTURE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE UNITED KINGDOM AND THE EUROPEAN UNION



THE FUTURE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE UNITED KINGDOM AND THE EUROPEAN UNION

Presented to Parliament by the Prime Minister by Command of Her Majesty

July 2018



© Crown copyright 2018

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except where otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/opengovernment-licence/version/3

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned.

This publication is available at www.gov.uk/government/publications

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at publiccorrespondence@cabinetoffice.gov.uk

ISBN 978-1-5286-0701-8

CCS0718050590-001 07/18

Printed on paper containing 75% recycled fibre content minimum.

Printed in the UK by the APS Group on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office

Foreword by the Prime Minister



In the referendum on 23 June 2016 – the largest ever democratic exercise in the United Kingdom – the British people voted to leave the European Union.

And that is what we will do – leaving the Single Market and the Customs Union, ending free movement and the jurisdiction of the European Court of Justice in this country, leaving the Common Agricultural Policy and the Common Fisheries Policy, and ending the days of sending vast sums of money to the EU every year. We will take back control of our money, laws, and borders, and begin a new exciting chapter in our nation's history.

It now falls to us all to write that chapter. That is why over the last two years I have travelled up and down the country, listening to views from all four nations of our United Kingdom and every side of the debate. One thing has always been clear – there is more that binds this great country together than divides it. We share an ambition for our country to be fairer and more prosperous than ever before.

We are an outward-facing, trading nation; we have a dynamic, innovative economy; and we live by common values of openness, the rule of law, and tolerance of others.

Leaving the EU gives us the opportunity to deliver on that ambition once and for all – strengthening our economy, our communities, our union, our democracy, and our place in the world, while maintaining a close friendship and strong partnership with our European neighbours.

But to do so requires pragmatism and compromise from both sides.

At the very start of our negotiations, the Government set out the principles which would guide our approach – and the EU set out theirs. Some of those principles, as you would expect, were in tension. Some of the first proposals each side advanced were not acceptable to the other. That is inevitable in a negotiation. So we have evolved our proposals, while sticking to our principles. The proposal set out in this White Paper finds a way through which respects both our principles and the EU's.

This was the spirit in which my Cabinet agreed a way forward at Chequers. It is the spirit in which my Government has approached this White Paper. And it is the spirit in which I now expect the EU to engage in the next phase of the negotiations.

Our proposal is comprehensive. It is ambitious. And it strikes the balance we need – between rights and obligations.

It would ensure that we leave the EU, without leaving Europe.

It would return accountability over the laws we live by to London, Edinburgh, Cardiff and Belfast, and end the jurisdiction of the European Court of Justice in the UK.

It would preserve the UK's and the EU's frictionless access to each other's markets for goods, protecting jobs and livelihoods on both sides, and propose new arrangements for services.

It would meet our shared commitments to Northern Ireland and Ireland through the overall future relationship, in a way that respects the EU's autonomy without harming the UK's constitutional and economic integrity.

It would end free movement, taking back control of the UK's borders.

It would see the UK step out into the world, driving forward an independent trade policy by striking trade deals with new friends and old allies.

It would maintain the shared security capabilities that keep citizens in the UK and the EU safe, as we work in partnership with Member States to tackle crime and terrorism.

It would end vast annual contributions to the EU budget, releasing funds for domestic priorities – in particular our long-term plan for the NHS.

It would take us out of the Common Agricultural Policy and Common Fisheries Policy, ensuring we can better meet the needs of farming and fishing communities.

It would maintain our current high standards on consumer and employment rights and the environment.

And it would enable co-operation to continue in areas including science and international development, improving people's lives within and beyond Europe's borders.

In short, the proposal set out in this White Paper would honour the result of the referendum.

It would deliver a principled and practical Brexit that is in our national interest, and the UK's and the EU's mutual interest.

So together we must now get on and deliver it – securing the prosperity and the security of our citizens for generations to come.

PRIME MINISTER

RT HON THERESA MAY MP

Foreword by the Secretary of State



Leaving the European Union involves challenge and opportunity. We need to rise to the challenge and grasp the opportunities.

Technological revolutions and scientific transformations are driving major changes in the global economy. In line with our modern Industrial Strategy, this Government is determined to make sure the UK is ready to lead the industries of the future and seize the opportunities of global trade.

At the same time, we need to cater for the deeply integrated supply chains that criss-cross the UK and the EU, and which have developed over our 40 years of membership.

The plan outlined in this White Paper delivers this balance.

It would take the UK out of the Single Market and the Customs Union.

It would give the UK the flexibility we need to strike new trade deals around the world, in particular breaking new ground for agreements in services.

It would maintain frictionless trade in goods between the UK and the EU through a new free trade area, responding to the needs of business.

It would deliver on both sides' commitments to Northern Ireland and Ireland, avoiding a hard border without compromising the EU's autonomy or UK sovereignty.

This is the right approach – for both the UK and for the EU. The White Paper sets out in detail how it would work.

Alongside this unprecedented economic partnership, we also want to build an unrivalled security partnership, and an unparalleled partnership on cross-cutting issues such as data, and science and innovation.

And to bolster this cooperation, we will need a new model of working together that allows the relationship to function smoothly on a day-to-day basis, and respond and adapt to new threats and global shifts while taking back control of our laws.

The White Paper details our proposals in all of these areas, setting out a comprehensive vision for the future relationship.

It is a vision that respects the result of the referendum, and delivers a principled and practical Brexit.

RT HON DOMINIC RAAB MP
SECRETARY OF STATE FOR EXITING THE EUROPEAN UNION

4 The future relationship between the United Kingdom and the European Union						

Contents

Executive Summary	6
Chapter 1 – Economic partnership	13
1.1 Summary	13
1.2 Goods	15
1.3 Services and investment	25
1.4 Framework for mobility	32
1.5 Digital	35
1.6 Open and fair competition	37
1.7 Socio-economic cooperation	41
1.8 Independent trade policy	47
Chapter 2 – Security partnership	51
2.1 Summary	51
2.2 Shared security context	53
2.3 Law enforcement and criminal justice cooperation	54
2.4 Foreign policy, defence and development	63
2.5 Wider security issues	69
Chapter 3 – Cross-cutting and other cooperation	73
3.1 Summary	73
3.2 Data protection	73
3.3 Classified information	76
3.4 Cooperative accords	76
3.5 Fishing opportunities	81
Chapter 4 – Institutional arrangements	84
4.1 Summary	84
4.2 A practical and flexible partnership	84
4.3 New forms of dialogue	87
4.4 Administrative provisions	89
4.5 Resolving disputes	92
4.6 Accountability at home	94
Conclusion and next steps	97

Executive Summary

The United Kingdom will **leave the European Union on 29 March 2019** and begin to chart a new course in the world.

The Government will have **delivered on the result of the 2016 referendum** – the biggest democratic exercise in this country's history. And it will have reached a key milestone in its principal mission – to build a country that works for everyone. A country that is stronger, fairer, more united and more outward-looking.

A detailed vision

To fulfil that mission, the Government is advancing a detailed proposal for a **principled** and practical Brexit.

This proposal underpins the vision set out by the Prime Minister at Lancaster House, in Florence, at Mansion House and in Munich, and in doing so addresses questions raised by the EU in the intervening months – explaining how the relationship would work, what benefits it would deliver for both sides, and why it would respect the sovereignty of the UK as well as the autonomy of the EU.

At its core, it is a package that strikes a **new and fair balance** of rights and obligations.

One that the Government hopes will yield a **redoubling of effort in the negotiations**, as the UK and the EU work together to develop and agree the framework for the future relationship this autumn.

A principled Brexit

A principled Brexit means **respecting the result of the referendum** and the decision of the UK public to take back control of the UK's laws, borders and money – and doing so in a way that supports the Government's wider objectives across five key areas of the UK's national life.

For the **economy**, developing a broad and deep economic relationship with the EU that maximises future prosperity in line with the modern Industrial Strategy and minimises disruption to trade between the UK and the EU, protecting jobs and livelihoods – at the same time making the most of trading opportunities around the world.

For **communities**, addressing specific concerns voiced in the referendum by ending free movement and putting in place a new immigration system, introducing new independent policies to support farming and fishing communities, using the Shared Prosperity Fund to spark a new wave of regeneration in the UK's towns and cities, and keeping citizens safe.

For the **union**, meeting commitments to Northern Ireland by protecting the peace process and avoiding a hard border, safeguarding the constitutional and economic integrity of the UK, and devolving the appropriate powers to Edinburgh, Cardiff and Belfast – while

ensuring the deal delivers for the Crown Dependencies, Gibraltar and the other Overseas Territories, noting there will be no change in their long-standing relationships with the UK.

For **democracy**, leaving the EU's institutions and reclaiming the UK's sovereignty, ensuring the laws people live by are passed by those they elect and enforced by UK courts, with clear accountability to the people of the UK.

For the **UK's place in the world**, continuing to promote innovation and new ideas, asserting a fully independent foreign policy, and working alongside the EU to promote and protect shared European values of democracy, openness and liberty.

A new relationship

Guided by these principles, the Government is determined to build a **new relationship that works for both the UK and the EU**. One which sees the UK leave the Single Market and the Customs Union to seize new opportunities and forge a new role in the world, while protecting jobs, supporting growth and maintaining security cooperation.

The Government believes this new relationship needs to be broader in scope than any other that exists between the EU and a third country. It should **reflect the UK's and the EU's deep history**, **close ties**, **and unique starting point**. And it must deliver real and lasting benefits for both sides, supporting shared prosperity and security – which is why the Government is proposing to structure the relationship around an economic partnership and a security partnership.

The future relationship also needs to be informed by both the UK and the EU taking a **responsible approach to avoiding a hard border between Northern Ireland and Ireland**, in a way that respects the constitutional and economic integrity of the UK and the autonomy of the EU.

Economic partnership

In designing the new trading relationship, the UK and the EU should therefore focus on ensuring continued frictionless access at the border to each other's markets for goods.

To deliver this goal, the Government is proposing the establishment of **a free trade area for goods**.

This free trade area would **protect the uniquely integrated supply chains and** 'just-in-time' processes that have developed across the UK and the EU over the last 40 years, and the jobs and livelihoods dependent on them, ensuring businesses on both sides can continue operating through their current value and supply chains. It would avoid the need for customs and regulatory checks at the border, and mean that businesses would not need to complete costly customs declarations. And it would enable products to only undergo one set of approvals and authorisations in either market, before being sold in both.

As a result, the free trade area for goods would see the UK and the EU **meet their shared commitments to Northern Ireland and Ireland** through the overall future relationship.

It would avoid the need for a hard border between Northern Ireland and Ireland, without harming the internal market of the UK – doing so in a way that fully respects the integrity of the EU's Single Market, Customs Union, and its rules-based framework.

These close arrangements on goods should sit alongside new ones for services and digital, giving the UK the freedom to chart its own path in the areas that matter most for its economy. The Government wants to minimise new barriers to trade between the UK and the EU, and hopes that both sides will work together to reduce them further over time – but acknowledges that there will be more barriers to the UK's access to the EU market than is the case today.

Finally, a relationship this deep will need to be supported by provisions giving both sides confidence that **the trade that it facilitates will be both open and fair.** So the Government is proposing reciprocal commitments that would ensure UK businesses could carry on competing fairly in EU markets, and EU businesses operating in the UK could do the same.

On this basis, the Government's vision is for an **economic partnership** that includes:

- a common rulebook for goods including agri-food, covering only those rules
 necessary to provide for frictionless trade at the border meaning that the UK would
 make an upfront choice to commit by treaty to ongoing harmonisation with the relevant
 EU rules, with all those rules legislated for by Parliament or the devolved legislatures;
- participation by the UK in those EU agencies that provide authorisations for goods in highly regulated sectors – namely the European Chemicals Agency, the European Aviation Safety Agency, and the European Medicines Agency – accepting the rules of these agencies and contributing to their costs, under new arrangements that recognise the UK will not be a Member State;
- the phased introduction of a new Facilitated Customs Arrangement that would remove the need for customs checks and controls between the UK and the EU as if they were a combined customs territory, which would enable the UK to control its own tariffs for trade with the rest of the world and ensure businesses paid the right or no tariff, becoming operational in stages as both sides complete the necessary preparations;
- in combination with no tariffs on any goods, these arrangements would avoid any
 new friction at the border, and protect the integrated supply chains that span the UK
 and the EU, safeguarding the jobs and livelihoods they support;
- new arrangements on services and digital, providing regulatory freedom where it
 matters most for the UK's services-based economy, and so ensuring the UK is best
 placed to capitalise on the industries of the future in line with the modern Industrial
 Strategy, while recognising that the UK and the EU will not have current levels of
 access to each other's markets;
- new economic and regulatory arrangements for financial services, preserving the
 mutual benefits of integrated markets and protecting financial stability while respecting
 the right of the UK and the EU to control access to their own markets noting that
 these arrangements will not replicate the EU's passporting regimes;

- continued cooperation on energy and transport preserving the Single Electricity
 Market in Northern Ireland and Ireland, seeking broad cooperation on energy,
 developing an air transport agreement, and exploring reciprocal arrangements for road
 hauliers and passenger transport operators;
- a new framework that respects the UK's control of its borders and enables UK and EU citizens to continue to travel to each other's countries, and businesses and professionals to provide services in line with the arrangements that the UK might want to offer to other close trading partners in the future; and
- in light of the depth of this partnership, binding provisions that guarantee an open and fair trading environment – committing to apply a common rulebook for state aid, establishing cooperative arrangements between regulators on competition, and agreeing to maintain high standards through non-regression provisions in areas including the environment and employment rules, in keeping with the UK's strong domestic commitments.

Taken together, such a partnership would see the UK and the EU meet their commitments to Northern Ireland and Ireland through the overall future relationship: preserving the constitutional and economic integrity of the UK; honouring the letter and the spirit of the Belfast ('Good Friday') Agreement; and ensuring that the operational legal text the UK will agree with the EU on the 'backstop' solution as part of the Withdrawal Agreement will not have to be used.

And while what the Government is proposing is ambitious in its breadth and depth, it is also workable and delivers on the referendum result – fully respecting the sovereignty of the UK, just as it respects the autonomy of the EU – with Parliament having the right to decide which legislation it adopts in the future, recognising there could be proportionate implications for the operation of the future relationship where the UK and the EU had a common rulebook.

In short, this proposal represents a **fair and pragmatic balance** for the future trading relationship between the UK and the EU – one that would protect jobs and livelihoods, and deliver an outcome that is truly in the interests of both sides.

Security partnership

Europe's security has been and will remain the UK's security, which is why the Government has made an **unconditional commitment** to maintain it.

During the UK's membership of the EU, it has worked with all Member States to develop a significant suite of tools that supports the UK's and the EU's combined operational capabilities, and helps keep citizens safe. It is important that the UK and the EU continue that cooperation, avoiding gaps in operational capability after the UK's withdrawal.

The UK will no longer be part of the EU's common policies on foreign, defence, security, justice and home affairs. Instead, the Government is proposing a new security partnership that maintains close cooperation – because **as the world continues to change, so too do the threats the UK and the EU both face**.

On this basis, the Government's vision is for a **security partnership** that includes:

- maintaining existing operational capabilities that the UK and the EU deploy to protect
 their citizens' security, including the ability for law enforcement agencies to share
 critical data and information and practical cooperation to investigate serious criminality
 and terrorism cooperating on the basis of existing tools and measures, amending
 legislation and operational practices as required and as agreed to ensure operational
 consistency between the UK and the EU;
- participation by the UK in key agencies, including Europol and Eurojust providing
 an effective and efficient way to share expertise and information, with law enforcement
 officers and legal experts working in close proximity so they can coordinate operations
 and judicial proceedings quickly accepting the rules of these agencies and
 contributing to their costs under new arrangements that recognise the UK will not be a
 Member State;
- arrangements for coordination on foreign policy, defence and development issues

 acting together to tackle some of the most pressing global challenges where it is
 more effective to work side-by-side, and continuing to deploy the UK's significant
 assets, expertise, intelligence and capabilities to protect and promote European values;
- joint capability development, supporting the operational effectiveness and interoperability of the UK's and the EU's militaries, and bolstering the competitiveness of the European defence industry, delivering the means to tackle current and future threats; and
- wider cooperation, taking a 'whole of route' approach to tackle the causes of illegal
 migration, establishing a strategic dialogue on cyber security, putting in place a
 framework to support cooperation on counter-terrorism, offering support and expertise
 on civil protection and working together on health security.

Cross-cutting and other cooperation

Finally, the Government believes the future relationship should include areas of cooperation that sit outside of the two core partnerships, but which are still of vital importance to the UK and the EU. These include:

- the protection of personal data, ensuring the future relationship facilitates the continued free flow of data to support business activity and security collaboration, and maximises certainty for business;
- collective endeavours to better understand and improve people's lives within and beyond Europe's borders – establishing cooperative accords for science and innovation, culture and education, development and international action, defence research and development, and space, so that the UK and the EU can continue to work together in these areas, including through EU programmes, with the UK making an appropriate financial contribution; and
- **fishing**, putting in place new arrangements for annual negotiations on access to waters and the sharing of fishing opportunities based on fairer and more scientific methods with the UK an independent coastal state.

A practical Brexit

To deliver the kind of practical relationship needed to secure prosperity for the UK and the EU, and maintain the security of UK and EU citizens, **both sides will need to be confident they can trust and rely on the commitments made to each other**.

So to underpin the future relationship, the Government is proposing joint **institutional arrangements** that provide for proper democratic accountability, allow for the relationship to develop over time, mean cooperation can be managed effectively and enable the UK and the EU to address issues as they arise.

These arrangements, which could take the form of an Association Agreement, would **ensure the new settlement is sustainable** – working for the citizens of the UK and the EU now and in the future.

They would provide for **regular dialogue between UK and EU leaders** and ministers, commensurate with the depth of the future relationship and recognising the significance of each other's global standing.

They would **support the smooth functioning of the relationship**, underpinning the various forms of regulatory cooperation agreed between the UK and the EU. Where the UK had made a commitment to the EU, including in those areas where the Government is proposing the UK would remain party to a common rulebook, there would be a clear process for updating the relevant rules, which respected the UK's sovereignty and provided for Parliamentary scrutiny.

The arrangements would include **robust and appropriate means for the resolution of disputes**, including through a Joint Committee and in many areas through binding independent arbitration – accommodating through a joint reference procedure the role of the Court of Justice of the European Union as the interpreter of EU rules, but founded on the principle that the court of one party cannot resolve disputes between the two.

And they would make sure both the UK and the EU **interpreted rules consistently** – with rights enforced in the UK by UK courts and in the EU by EU courts, with a commitment that UK courts would pay due regard to EU case law in only those areas where the UK continued to apply a common rulebook.

Finally, these arrangements would **enable flexibility**, ensuring the UK and the EU could review the relationship, responding and adapting to changing circumstances and challenges over time.

Moving forward

The Government believes this proposal for a principled and practical Brexit is the right one – for the UK and for the EU.

It would respect the referendum result, and deliver on its promise, while ensuring the UK leaves the EU without leaving Europe – **striking a new balance of rights and obligations** that is fair to both sides.

In keeping with the spirit of Article 50, and both sides' commitment to the principle that 'nothing is agreed until everything is agreed', **the Withdrawal Agreement and the**

framework for the future relationship are inextricably linked – and so must be concluded together.

Both sides will need to focus on **turning the 'Future Framework' into legal text as soon as possible**, before ratifying the binding agreements to give it effect — with the aim of ensuring a smooth and orderly transition from the implementation period into the future relationship.

On the basis of this proposal, the Government will now **charge the UK's negotiating team to engage with the EU's at pace**, working to reach a substantive agreement on the Future Framework alongside the Withdrawal Agreement later this year.

Chapter 1 – Economic partnership

1.1 Summary

- 1. Following the decision of the people of the UK in the referendum, the UK is leaving the EU, and as a result will leave the Single Market and the Customs Union seizing new opportunities and forging a new role in the world. At the same time, the UK wants to protect jobs and support growth through a new economic partnership with its nearest neighbours. This proposal respects the UK's sovereignty, building in a clear role for Parliament, and preserves the constitutional and economic integrity of the UK's own Union.
- 2. A deep and comprehensive economic partnership between the UK and the EU would have distinct benefits for both sides. The UK is the world's fifth largest economy, and the EU is the UK's biggest market. The UK's proposal, set out in this chapter, reflects the unique ties that exist between the UK and the EU economies, businesses and consumers. It represents a serious offer, which the Government believes would benefit the UK and its close partners in the EU. In formulating this offer, the Government has listened carefully to the positions that the EU has set out. This proposal respects the EU's autonomy and the integrity of the Single Market. These principles, together with strong reciprocal commitments on open and fair trade, and propositions for a new institutional framework, inform the design of the UK's proposal. The UK hopes that this will be the basis of a serious and detailed negotiation in the coming weeks and months that will lead to a historic agreement in the interests of both sides.
- 3. At the core of the UK's proposal is the establishment by the UK and the EU of a free trade area for goods. This would avoid friction at the border and ensure both sides meet their commitments to Northern Ireland and Ireland through the overall future relationship. It would protect the uniquely integrated supply chains and 'just-in-time' processes that have developed across the UK and the EU over the last 40 years, and will remain important given our geographical proximity, and the jobs and livelihoods dependent on them.
- 4. These close arrangements on goods would sit alongside new arrangements for services and digital, recognising that the UK and the EU will not have current levels of access to each other's markets in the future. This would provide regulatory flexibility that is important for the UK's services-based economy.
- 5. Every trading relationship has varying levels of market access, depending on the respective interests of the countries involved. The EU has adopted different agreements with countries beyond its borders and outside the Single Market, which are tailored to the depth and nature of its relationships with the countries concerned. It is right for the UK and the EU to take a similarly tailored approach.

¹ 'IMF World Economic Outlook', IMF, April 2018

² 'UK Economic Accounts: all data (January to March 2018)', ONS, June 2018

- 6. At the same time, the UK recognises that the Single Market is built on a balance of rights and obligations, and that the UK cannot have all the benefits of membership of the Single Market without its obligations. The UK's proposal therefore establishes a new framework that holds rights and obligations in a fair but different balance. This would be to the economic advantage of both the UK and the EU. It is a principled and practical response to a unique situation, and offers a constitutionally appropriate solution to the UK and the EU's commitments on the Northern Ireland/Ireland border.
- 7. The UK's proposal for the economic partnership would:
 - a. establish a new free trade area and maintain a common rulebook for **goods**, including agri-food, covering only those rules necessary to provide for frictionless trade at the border. The common rulebook would be legislated for in the UK by the UK Parliament and the devolved legislatures, as set out in detail in chapter 4. The UK would also seek participation in EU agencies that facilitate goods being placed on the EU market, and the phased introduction of a new Facilitated Customs Arrangement (FCA);
 - b. include new arrangements on **services and investment** that provide regulatory flexibility, recognising that the UK and the EU will not have current levels of access to each other's markets, with new arrangements on financial services that preserve the mutual benefits of integrated markets and protect financial stability, noting that these could not replicate the EU's passporting regimes;
 - c. **end free movement**, giving the UK back control over how many people come to live in the UK;
 - d. include a new **framework** that respects the UK's control of its borders, enabling UK and EU citizens to continue to travel to each other's countries and businesses and professionals to provide services, and to help students and young people to enjoy the opportunities and experiences available in the UK and the EU in line with the arrangements that the UK might want to offer to other close trading partners in the future;
 - e. include new arrangements on **digital** trade, including e-commerce, which enable the UK and the EU to respond nimbly to the new opportunities and challenges presented by emerging technologies, recognising that the UK and the EU will not have current levels of access to each other's markets;
 - f. incorporate binding provisions related to open and fair competition, with a common rulebook for state aid, cooperative arrangements on competition, and reciprocal commitments to maintain current high standards through non-regression provisions in other areas, such as environmental and employment rules. The UK has already made strong domestic commitments to maintaining high standards;
 - g. provide for **socio-economic cooperation** in areas including energy, transport and civil judicial cooperation; and
 - h. be consistent with the UK's ambitions as a global trading nation, with its own **independent trade policy** able to represent itself at the World Trade Organization (WTO), to make credible and balanced offers to third country trading partners, and to implement a trade remedies and sanctions regime.

8. The UK will be seeking specific arrangements for the Crown Dependencies, Gibraltar and the other Overseas Territories.3 These arrangements should take account of the significant and mutually beneficial economic ties between these economies and EU Member States, including their overseas countries and territories.

1.2 Goods

- 9. The UK and the EU have deeply integrated goods markets, covering manufactured, agricultural, food and fisheries products. The UK is an important market for the EU, and vice versa. In 2017 the value of imports and exports between the UK and the EU stood at over £423 billion, with the UK reporting an overall trade deficit in goods with the EU of £95 billion.4 In the same year, the EU accounted for 70 per cent of UK agricultural imports. 5 The close trading relationship between the UK and the EU has developed over many decades. It will continue to be important in the future, given the importance of geographical proximity for goods trade.
- 10. While there has been a trend towards the opening up of services markets, existing trading relationships involve greater liberalisation on goods than on services. Regulatory frameworks draw a distinction between goods, which are physical products that tangibly cross a border, and services.
- The UK proposes the establishment of a free trade area for goods, including agri-food. This would avoid friction at the border, protect jobs and livelihoods, and ensure that the UK and the EU meet their commitments to Northern Ireland and Ireland through the overall future relationship. The UK and the EU would maintain a common rulebook for goods including agri-food, with the UK making an upfront choice to commit by treaty to ongoing harmonisation with EU rules on goods, covering only those necessary to provide for frictionless trade at the border. This common rulebook would be legislated for by the UK Parliament, as set out in detail in chapter 4.

The UK's overseas territories are: Anguilla, Cayman Islands, Falkland Islands, Gibraltar, South Georgia and the South Sandwich Islands, Montserrat, Pitcairn, Saint Helena, Ascension and Tristan da Cunha, British Antarctic Territory, British Indian Ocean Territory, Turks and Caicos Islands, British Virgin Islands, Bermuda, and the Sovereign Base Areas.

^{&#}x27;UK Economic Accounts: all data (January to March 2018)', ONS, June 2018

^{&#}x27;Agriculture in the UK: 2017' (p97), DEFRA, May 2018. Agri-food products referred to are food, feed and drink

- 12. The UK's proposal for a free trade area includes:
 - a. the phased introduction of a new **Facilitated Customs Arrangement** that would remove the need for customs checks and controls between the UK and the EU as if in a combined customs territory, while enabling the UK to control tariffs for its own trade with the rest of the world and ensure businesses pay the right tariff;
 - b. the elimination of **tariffs**, quotas and routine requirements for rules of origin for goods traded between the UK and the EU;
 - c. a common rulebook for **manufactured goods**, alongside UK participation in EU agencies that facilitate goods being placed on the EU market;
 - d. a common rulebook for **agriculture**, **food and fisheries products**, encompassing rules that must be checked at the border, alongside equivalence for certain other rules, such as wider food policy; and
 - e. robust domestic **market surveillance** and cooperation between the UK and the EU to ensure the rules are upheld in both markets.

1.2.1 Facilitated Customs Arrangement

- 13. Upon its withdrawal from the EU, the UK will leave the Customs Union. The UK has been clear that it is seeking a new customs arrangement that provides the most frictionless trade possible in goods between the UK and the EU, while allowing the UK to forge new trade relationships with partners around the world. The arrangement must also allow the EU to protect the integrity of its Single Market and Customs Union.
- 14. The UK's proposal is to agree a new FCA with the EU. As if in a combined customs territory with the EU, the UK would apply the EU's tariffs and trade policy for goods intended for the EU. The UK would also apply its own tariffs and trade policy for goods intended for consumption in the UK.
- 15. Mirroring the EU's customs approach at its external border would ensure that goods entering the EU via the UK have complied with EU customs processes and the correct EU duties have been paid. This would remove the need for customs processes between the UK and the EU, including customs declarations, routine requirements for rules of origin, and entry and exit summary declarations. Together with the wider free trade area, the FCA would preserve frictionless trade for the majority of UK goods trade, and reduce frictions for UK exporters and importers. The UK's goal is to facilitate the greatest possible trade, whether with the EU or the rest of the world.

16. This would mean:

- a. where a good reaches the UK border, and the destination can be robustly demonstrated by a trusted trader, it will pay the UK tariff if it is destined for the UK and the EU tariff if it is destined for the EU. This is most likely to be relevant to finished goods; and
- b. where a good reaches the UK border and the destination cannot be robustly demonstrated at the point of import, it will pay the higher of the UK or EU tariff. Where the good's destination is later identified to be a lower tariff jurisdiction, it would be eligible for a repayment from the UK Government equal to the difference between the two tariffs. This is most likely to be relevant to intermediate goods. Under the UK's proposals, it is estimated up to 96 per cent of UK goods trade would be most likely to be able to pay the correct or no tariff upfront, with the remainder most likely to use the repayment mechanism.⁶
- 17. The UK recognises that this approach would need to be consistent with the integrity of the EU's Customs Union and that the EU would need to be confident that goods cannot enter its customs territory without the correct tariff and trade policy being applied. The UK therefore proposes a range of areas for discussion with the EU.
 - a. The UK and the EU should agree a mechanism for the remittance of relevant tariff revenue. On the basis that this is likely to be the most robust approach, the UK proposes a tariff revenue formula, taking account of goods destined for the UK entering via the EU and goods destined for the EU entering via the UK. However, the UK is not proposing that the EU applies the UK's tariffs and trade policy at its border for goods intended for the UK. The UK and the EU will need to agree mechanisms, including institutional oversight, for ensuring that this process is resilient and verifiable.
 - b. The UK and the EU should agree a new trusted trader scheme to allow firms to pay the correct tariff at the UK border without needing to engage with the repayment mechanism. This is most likely to be relevant to finished goods.
 - c. The UK and the EU should agree the circumstances in which repayments can be granted, which is most likely to be relevant to intermediate goods. To support UK and EU businesses, particularly smaller businesses, the UK proposes that repayment should occur as soon as possible in the supply chain for example, at the point at which the good is substantially transformed into a UK product, rather than at the point of final consumption. The UK proposes to explore an approach with the EU using existing concepts such as those within the Regional Convention on pan-Euro-Mediterranean preferential rules of origin. The UK recognises that the rules and processes governing eligibility for repayment, including risk profiling and effectively targeted audit and assurance activity, must be sufficiently robust to ensure the mechanism cannot be used to improperly evade EU or UK tariffs and duties, through methods such as re-exporting of goods from the UK to the EU, or vice versa.

Based on 2017 data on trade flows, proportion of goods classified as intermediate/unfinished and MFN tariff schedules. UN Comtrade statistics, World Integrated Trade Solution tariff data, Broad Economic Category data, EU Customs and Taxation Union website

- d. The UK would maintain a common rulebook with the EU, including the Union Customs Code and rules related to safety and security, and would apply and interpret those rules consistently with the EU. The UK already applies the Union Customs Code, and the new Customs Declarations Service (CDS), due for implementation by 2019, is fully compatible with it.
- e. There will need to be appropriate mechanisms for the UK to implement new rules related to customs with the EU, to provide for the proper functioning of the arrangement. There will need to be mechanisms to ensure that rules are applied appropriately, interpreted and enforced consistently, and that disputes between the UK and the EU related to those rules are resolved effectively. Further detail is set out in chapter 4.
- 18. To ensure that new declarations and border checks between the UK and the EU do not need to be introduced for VAT and Excise purposes, the UK proposes the application of common cross-border processes and procedures for VAT and Excise, as well as some administrative cooperation and information exchange to underpin risk-based enforcement. These common processes and procedures should apply to the trade in goods, small parcels and to individuals travelling with goods (including alcohol and tobacco) for personal use.
- 19. The UK is seeking to be at the cutting edge of global customs policy. In addition to the mechanisms set out above, the UK also proposes a range of unilateral and bilateral facilitations, to reduce frictions for UK trade with the rest of the world, and promote the greatest possible trade. In particular, the UK will look to:
 - a. accede to the Common Transit Convention: the UK has already begun the application process for accession;
 - b. agree mutual recognition of Authorised Economic Operators (AEOs);
 - c. introduce a range of simplifications for businesses, including implementing self-assessment over time to allow traders to calculate their own customs duties and aggregate their customs declarations;
 - d. speed up authorisations processes, for example through increased automation and better use of data; and
 - e. make existing simplified procedures easier for traders to access.
- 20. The FCA is designed to ensure that the repayment mechanism is only needed in a limited proportion of UK trade, and to make it as simple as possible to use for those who need to use it. The UK will take into account the views of third countries, to ensure that the UK's tariff offer is as valuable to them as possible and to continue to explore options to use future advancements in technology to streamline the process. This could include looking to make it easier to allow traders to lodge information in one place. This could include exploring how machine learning and artificial intelligence could allow traders to automate the collection and submission of data required for customs declarations. This could also include exploring how allowing data sharing across borders, including potentially the storing of the entire chain of transactions for each goods consignment, while enabling that data to be shared securely between traders and across relevant government departments, could

- reduce the need for repeated input of the same data, and help to combat import and export fraud.
- 21. There will need to be a phased approach to implementation of this model, which the UK and the EU will need to agree through discussions on the future economic partnership.

1.2.2 Tariffs and rules of origin

- 22. A necessary underpinning of a UK-EU free trade area, in addition to the FCA, would be an agreement not to impose tariffs, quotas or routine requirements for rules of origin on any UK-EU trade in goods. This would recognise that goods coming into the UK would have faced the same treatment at the border as goods coming into EU Member States, so there would be no need for further restrictions between the UK and the EU.
- 23. To ensure the trade in goods between the UK and the EU remains frictionless at the border, the UK proposes:
 - a. zero tariffs across goods (including manufactured goods, agricultural, food and fisheries products), with no quotas;
 - b. no routine requirements for rules of origin between the UK and EU; and
 - c. arrangements that facilitate cumulation with current and future Free Trade Agreement (FTA) partners with a view to preserving existing global supply chains. This would allow EU content to count as local content in UK exports to its FTA partners for rules of origin purposes, and UK content to count as local content in EU exports to its FTA partners. Diagonal cumulation would allow UK, EU and FTA partner content to be considered interchangeable in trilateral trade.

1.2.3 Manufactured goods

- 24. The UK and the EU are both home to strong manufacturing sectors such as automotives, aerospace, chemicals, electronics, machinery and pharmaceuticals. The production of manufactured goods rarely takes place in one location, with modern manufacturing seeing increasingly specialised firms, with complex supply chains that stretch across multiple countries and operate on a 'just-in-time' basis. Both the UK and the EU will want to ensure that European manufacturing continues to thrive in an increasingly competitive global market.
- The UK's proposal for a common rulebook would underpin the free trade area for goods. It would cover only those rules necessary to provide for frictionless trade at the border. In the case of manufactured goods, this encompasses all rules that could be checked at the border, as they set the requirements for placing manufactured goods on the market, and includes those which set environmental requirements for products, such as their energy consumption. Certainty around a common rulebook would be necessary to reassure the UK and the EU that goods in circulation in their respective markets meet the necessary regulatory requirements, removing the need to undertake regulatory checks at the border. It would also ensure interoperability between UK and EU supply chains, and avoid the need for manufacturers to run

- separate production lines for each market. As now, UK firms would be able to manufacture products for export that meet the regulatory requirements of third countries.
- 26. A common rulebook for manufactured goods is in the UK's interests. It reflects the role the UK has had in shaping the EU's rules throughout its membership, as well as the interests of its manufacturers, and the relative stability of the manufactured goods acquis. The UK would also seek participation as an active participant, albeit without voting rights in EU technical committees that have a role in designing and implementing rules that form part of the common rulebook. This should ensure that UK regulators could continue to contribute their expertise and capability to EU agencies, including preparing expert opinions that facilitate decisions about individual products.
- 27. The UK has long advocated a convergence of rules and standards for goods, whether as a member of the EU or on the global stage. The adoption of a common rulebook means that the British Standards Institution (BSI) would retain its ability to apply the "single standard model" so that where a voluntary European standard is used to support EU rules, the BSI could not put forward any competing national standards. This would ensure consistency between UK and EU standards wherever this type of standard is adopted, with input from businesses, by the European Standards Organisations (ESOs). It would ensure consumers do not face multiple standards for the same products. It would also enable the UK to continue playing a leading role in the ESOs, and with the EU on a global stage, for example in the International Organization on Standardization (ISO), to ensure that there is greater convergence at the international level.
- 28. In the context of a common rulebook, the UK believes that manufacturers should only need to undergo one series of tests in either market, in order to place products in both markets. This would be supported by arrangements covering all relevant compliance activity, supplemented by continued UK participation in agencies for highly regulated sectors including for medicines, chemicals and aerospace. This would be underpinned by strong reciprocal commitments to open and fair trade and a robust institutional framework.

- 29. In order to achieve this, the UK's proposal would cover all of the compliance activity necessary for products to be sold in the UK and EU markets. This includes:
 - a. testing products to see if they conform to requirements, including conformity assessments and type approval for vehicles, as well as other tests and declarations. It would also apply to labels and marks applied to show they meet the regulatory requirements;
 - accreditation of conformity assessment bodies testing the testers within a jointly agreed accreditation framework, to provide mutual reassurance that UK and EU conformity assessments are robust;
 - c. manufacturing and quality assurance processes, such as Good Laboratory Practice and Good Manufacturing Practice, which ensure production methods are being respected, and that declarations are made during manufacturing;
 - d. the role of nominated individuals, such as the "responsible persons" for certain high-risk products, who interact with authorities or perform a specific role during and after production;
 - e. bespoke provisions for human and animal medicines which reflect their unique status, including the release of individual batches by a qualified person based in the UK or EU, and the role of the qualified person for pharmacovigilance, responsible for ongoing safety monitoring of potential side effects; and
 - f. licensing regimes and arrangements, such as export licenses, for the movement of restricted products.

Example: mutual recognition of Vehicle Type Approvals

The common rulebook would include the type approval system for all categories of motor vehicles. The UK and the EU would continue recognising the activities of one another's type approval authorities, including whole vehicle type approval certificates, assessments of conformity of production procedures and other associated activities. Member State approval authorities would continue to be permitted to designate technical service providers in the UK for the purpose of EC approvals and vice versa.

Both the UK and the EU would continue to permit vehicles to enter into service on the basis of a valid certificate of conformity. Once in production, the UK and the EU would continue to recognise the ongoing role of type approval authorities, including monitoring of a manufacturer's conformity of production procedures and issuing any extensions or revisions to existing type approval certificates. UK and EU type approval authorities would continue to uphold their current obligations, including working closely with other authorities to identify non-conformities and ensure appropriate action is taken to rectify them.

30. In some manufactured goods sectors where more complex products have the potential to pose a higher risk to consumers, patients or environmental safety, a greater level of regulatory control is applied. The European Medicines Agency (EMA), the European Chemicals Agency (ECHA) and the European Aviation Safety Agency (EASA) facilitate part of these regulatory frameworks. In line with the UK's objective of ensuring that products only go through one approval mechanism to

access both markets, the UK is seeking participation in these EU agencies, as an active participant, albeit without voting rights, which would involve making an appropriate financial contribution. The UK would want to secure access to relevant IT systems, ensuring the timely transfer of data between UK and EU authorities. In addition, it would seek:

- a. for EASA, becoming a third country member via the established route under Article 66 of the EASA basic regulation, as Switzerland has;
- b. for ECHA, ensuring UK businesses could continue to register chemical substances directly, rather than working through an EU-based representative; and
- c. for the EMA, ensuring that all the current routes to market for human and animal medicine remain available, with UK regulators still able to conduct technical work, including acting as a 'leading authority' for the assessment of medicines, and participating in other activities like ongoing safety monitoring and the incoming clinical trials framework.
- 31. To ensure that there is no market disruption as the UK and the EU transition from the implementation period to this new free trade area, the UK proposes that all manufactured goods authorisations, approvals, certifications, and any agency activity undertaken under EU law (for example, to register a chemical), completed before the end of the implementation period, should continue to be recognised as valid in both the UK and the EU. Moreover, any such processes underway as the UK and the EU transition from the implementation period should be completed under existing rules, with the outcomes respected in full.

1.2.4 Agriculture, food and fisheries products

- 32. There is extensive trade between the UK and the EU in agriculture (food, feed and drink) products and the EU is the UK's single largest trade partner.⁷ 70 per cent of UK agri-food imports came from the EU in 2017.⁸ Food and drink manufacturing is the UK's largest manufacturing sector, contributing £27.8 billion in Gross Value Added (GVA) in 2017.⁹ Much like manufactured goods, the agri-food sector relies on complex international supply chains.
- 33. Under the existing constitutional settlements in Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland, each devolved administration and legislature generally has competence to make its own primary and secondary legislation in relation to agriculture, as well as in related areas such as animal health and welfare, food safety, plant health and fisheries. The UK Government will work closely with the devolved administrations, who share high ambitions for a sustainable agricultural industry in the UK, as the UK withdraws from the EU, and will ensure future arrangements within the UK work for the whole of the UK.

⁷ 'Agriculture in the UK' (p96), Defra, May 2018. Agri-food products referred to are food, feed and drink

⁸ 'Agriculture in the UK: 2017' (p97), Defra, May 2018. Agri-food products referred to are food, feed and drink

⁹ 'UK GDP(O) low level aggregates' (using SIC codes 10 and 11), ONS, June 2018

- 34. There are three broad categories of rules that apply to agriculture, food and fisheries products:
 - a. those that must be checked at the border, including relevant Sanitary and Phytosanitary (SPS) rules, which safeguard human, animal and plant health;
 - those relating to wider food policy, such as marketing rules that determine how agri-food products can be described and labelled, which do not need to be checked at the border; and
 - c. those relating to domestic production, such as the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) and the Common Fisheries Policy (CFP).
- 35. The UK's proposal for a common rulebook on agri-food encompasses those rules that must be checked at the border. The UK and the EU have set the global standard for the protection of human, animal and plant health, and both have set an ambition to maintain high standards in the future. As for manufactured goods, certainty around a common rulebook is necessary to reassure the UK and the EU that agri-food products in circulation in their respective markets meet the necessary regulatory requirements. This would remove the need to undertake additional regulatory checks at the border avoiding the need for any physical infrastructure, such as Border Inspection Posts, at the border between Northern Ireland and Ireland. A common rulebook would also protect integrated supply chains, trade between the UK and the EU, and consumers and biosecurity.
- 36. There are wider food policy rules that set marketing and labelling requirements. It is not necessary to check these rules are met at the border, because they do not govern the way in which products are produced, but instead determine how they are presented to consumers. These rules are most effectively enforced on the market, and as such it is not necessary to incorporate them into the common rulebook. Indeed there are differences between Member States currently on aspects of food policy, for example food labelling. Tailoring the regulatory environment to best suit businesses operating in the local market is better for consumers, businesses and the environment. The UK will tailor its food policy to better reflect business needs, improve value for money and support innovation and creativity.
- 37. For these rules, there are existing precedents of equivalence agreements covering testing and approval procedures. For example, the EU has reciprocal equivalence arrangements or agreements for organic production rules and control systems with a number of countries: Canada, Chile, Israel, Japan, the Republic of Korea, Tunisia, the US and New Zealand. The UK wants equivalence arrangements on wider food policy rules. The UK has high standards in place on food policy, including areas of UK leadership such as unfair trading practices.
- 38. Included in the remit of wider food policy rules are the specific protections given to some agri-food products, such as Geographical Indications (GIs). GIs recognise the heritage and provenance of products which have a strong traditional or cultural connection to a particular place. They provide registered products with legal protection against imitation, and protect consumers from being misled about the quality or geographical origin of goods. Significant GI-protected products from the UK include Scotch whisky, Scottish farmed salmon, and Welsh beef and lamb.

- 39. The UK will be establishing its own GI scheme after exit, consistent with the WTO Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property (TRIPS). This new UK framework will go beyond the requirements of TRIPS, and will provide a clear and simple set of rules on GIs, and continuous protection for UK GIs in the UK. The scheme will be open to new applications, from both UK and non-UK applicants, from the day it enters into force.
- 40. The UK will be leaving the CFP and CAP: these and other areas of domestic production are not relevant to the UK's and the EU's trading relationship, and so would not be captured by the common rulebook or any form of regulatory equivalence. The EU's view at the WTO is that direct payments under CAP are not market distorting and the EU has deep relationships on fisheries with the other North Sea countries on the basis of annual negotiations. The UK will be free to design agricultural support policies that deliver the outcomes most relevant to its market, within the confines of WTO rules. The UK has been clear that it will seek to improve agricultural productivity and deliver improved environmental outcomes through its replacement for CAP. Similarly, on the CFP, the UK will be an independent coastal state, able to control access to its waters and the allocation of fishing opportunities. The UK's proposals for fisheries are covered in chapter 3.
- 41. By being outside the CAP, and having a common rulebook that only applies to rules that must be checked at the border, the UK would be able to have control over new future subsidy arrangements, control over market surveillance of domestic policy arrangements, an ability to change tariffs and quotas in the future, and the freedom to apply higher animal welfare standards that would not have a bearing on the functioning of the free trade area for goods such as welfare in transport and the treatment of live animal exports.
- 42. In acknowledging the specific situation in respect of Northern Ireland and Ireland, all North-South cooperation on agriculture flowing from the Belfast ('Good Friday') Agreement has been mapped in detail through the joint mapping exercise conducted in Phase 1, and will be protected in full. Northern Ireland and Ireland form a single epidemiological unit. The UK is fully committed to ensuring that the Northern Ireland Executive and North South Ministerial Council can, through agreement, continue to pursue specific initiatives, such as the All Ireland Animal Health and Welfare Strategy.

1.2.5 Market surveillance

- 43. As now, all products that enter the UK market will need to comply with the UK's regulations and standards. The new free trade area for goods, including agri-food, would need to be supported by robust domestic market surveillance and cooperation, to ensure that rules are upheld in both markets.
- 44. Following its withdrawal from the EU, the UK intends to maintain its robust programme of risk-based market surveillance to ensure that dangerous products do not reach consumers. This includes the ability to intercept products as they enter the UK, check products already on the market, and gather information through a variety of intelligence sources.

- 45. UK regulators propose establishing cooperation arrangements with EU regulators to ensure that authorities on both sides can take appropriate, consistent and coordinated action to prevent non-compliant products from reaching consumers or patients, or harming the environment. This should be complemented by the exchange of intelligence, including information received directly from businesses and consumers, and reporting mechanisms.
- 46. In order to support these cooperation arrangements, the UK is seeking access to the EU's communications systems, such as the Rapid Alert System for Food and Feed (RASFF), Rapid Alert System for Serious Risk (Rapex), and the Information and Communication System for Market Surveillance (ICSMS). This would ensure that UK and EU authorities could issue alerts to one another to respond in an effective and timely manner when they had identified unsafe or non-compliant products.

1.3 Services and investment

- 47. The UK is world leading in many services sectors, including legal, business and financial services. In 2017, services made up 79 per cent of total UK GVA worth £1.46 trillion. In 2017, 20 per cent of EU27 services imports came from the UK, and 21 per cent of EU27 services exports went to the UK. In Globally services trade is growing rapidly; UK services trade with non-EU countries grew by 73 per cent between 2007 and 2017.
- 48. The UK is proposing new arrangements for services and digital that would provide regulatory flexibility, which is important for the UK's services-based economy. This means that the UK and the EU will not have current levels of access to each other's markets.
- 49. The UK's proposal builds on the principles of international trade and the precedents of existing EU trade agreements, and reflects its unique starting point. It would include:
 - a. **general provisions** that minimise the introduction of discriminatory and non-discriminatory barriers to establishment, investment and the cross-border provision of services, with barriers only permitted where that is agreed upfront;
 - b. a system for the **mutual recognition of professional qualifications**, enabling professionals to provide services across the UK and EU;
 - c. additional, mutually beneficial arrangements for **professional and business** services; and
 - d. a new economic and regulatory arrangement for **financial services**.

¹⁰ 'UK GDP(O) low level aggregates', ONS, June 2018

^{11 &#}x27;European Union and euro area balance of payments - quarterly data (BPM6) [bop_eu6_q]', Eurostat, June 2018

¹² 'UK Economic Accounts: all data (January to March 2018)', ONS, June 2018

1.3.1 General provisions

- 50. The WTO's General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS) provides a framework for global services trade and defines four modes of services supply:
 - a. a service crossing a border (for example, a service being provided over the telephone);
 - b. a consumer of a service crossing a border (for example, tourism);
 - c. a service provider establishing a legal presence across a border (for example, a retail chain opening a new establishment in another country); and
 - d. a service provider crossing a border to a consumer (for example, a lawyer going to another country to provide legal advice to a client).
- 51. Under GATS, FTAs are obliged to cover all modes of services supply and to have substantial sectoral coverage. But each new FTA is unique to the parties involved, giving service providers different market access rights. Over time FTAs have promoted a more liberalising approach to services trade.
- 52. The UK proposes arrangements with broad coverage, ensuring that service suppliers and investors are allowed to operate in a broad number of sectors without encountering unjustified barriers or discrimination unless otherwise agreed. Specifically, the UK is seeking:
 - a. broad coverage across services sectors and the modes of supply, in line with GATS obligations;
 - b. deep Market Access commitments, eliminating, among other things, explicit restrictions on the number of services providers from one country that can operate in another:
 - c. deep commitments on National Treatment, to guarantee that foreign service providers are treated the same as equivalent local providers, with any exceptions kept to a minimum;
 - d. provisions to ensure the free and timely flow of financial capital for day-to-day business needs, including payments and transfers; and
 - e. best-in-class arrangements on domestic regulation, which ensure that all new regulation is necessary and proportionate.

1.3.2 Mutual recognition of professional qualifications

- 53. The EU regime for the recognition of professional qualifications enables UK and EU professionals to practise across both the UK and the EU on a temporary, longer-term or permanent basis, without fully having to retrain or requalify. Since 1997 the UK has recognised over 142,000 EU qualifications, including for lawyers, social workers and engineers. Over 27,000 decisions to recognise UK qualifications have been undertaken in the EU. 14
- 54. The UK agrees with the position set out in the European Council's March 2018 Guidelines, which stated that the future partnership should include ambitious provisions on the recognition of professional qualifications. This is particularly relevant for the healthcare, education and veterinary/agri-food sectors in the context of North-South cooperation between Northern Ireland and Ireland.
- 55. The UK's arrangements with the EU should not be constrained by existing EU FTA precedents. CETA includes some of the EU's most ambitious third country arrangements on the mutual recognition of professional qualifications. Yet CETA only sets a framework within which regulators may negotiate recognition agreements for professional qualifications; it does not itself provide for mutual recognition. The UK proposes establishing a system that:
 - a. is broad in scope, covering the same range of professions as the Mutual Recognition of Qualifications Directive;
 - b. includes those operating either on a permanent or temporary basis across borders;
 - c. is predictable and proportionate, enabling professionals to demonstrate that they
 meet the necessary requirements, or to undertake legitimate compensatory
 measures where there is a significant difference between qualifications or training,
 in a timely way; and
 - d. provides transparency, with cooperation between regulators to facilitate the exchange of information about breaches of professional standards, and to review changes to professional qualifications over time.

^{&#}x27;Regulated professionals database' (search results are produced by entering the country of qualification as all EU countries, the host country as the UK, for the year 2016), European Commission, accessed April 2018

^{&#}x27;Regulated professionals database' (search results are produced by entering the country of qualification as the UK, the host country as all EU countries, for the year 2016), European Commission, accessed April 2018

1.3.3 Professional and business services

- 56. The UK and EU economies rely on the cross-border provision of professional services. This includes legal services, where the UK is the destination for 14.5 per cent of total EU legal services exports.¹⁵ It also includes accounting and audit services. In 2016, UK firms provided over 14 per cent of EU27 audit and accountancy imports.¹⁶
- 57. In addition to the general services provisions, the UK proposes supplementary provisions for professional and business services, for example, permitting joint practice between UK and EU lawyers, and continued joint UK-EU ownership of accounting firms. The supplementary provisions would not replicate Single Market membership, and professional and business service providers would have rights in the UK and the EU which differ from current arrangements.

1.3.4 Financial services

- 58. The UK and EU financial services markets are highly interconnected: UK-located banks underwrite around half of the debt and equity issued by EU businesses; 17 UK-located banks are counterparty to over half of the over-the-counter interest rate derivatives traded by EU companies and banks; 18 around £1.4 trillion of assets are managed in the UK on behalf of European clients; 19 the world-leading London Market for insurance hosts all of the world's twenty largest international (re)insurance companies; and more international banking activity is booked in the UK than in any other country. This interconnected market has benefits for consumers and businesses across Europe. For example, one study has found that if new regulatory barriers forced the fragmentation of firms' balance sheets, the wholesale banking industry would need to find £23-38 billion of extra capital. 20 These are costs that would ultimately be borne by consumers and businesses.
- 59. This interconnectedness also highlights the UK's and the EU's shared interest in financial stability. The UK is host to all 30 global systemically important banks and is the home regulator for four of them. Given its scale, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) has described financial stability in the UK as a "global public good". Alongside its European partners, the UK has developed an institutional framework to manage financial stability while ensuring the regulatory system supports a global financial centre.

¹⁵ 'International trade in services (since 2010) (BPM6) (bop_its6_det)', Eurostat, January 2018 – covers BPM6 codes SJ211

¹⁶ 'International trade in services (since 2010) (BPM6) (bop_its6_det)', Eurostat, January 2018 – covers BPM6 codes SJ212

^{17 &#}x27;Financial Stability Report: June 2017 Issue No. 41' (page viii), Bank of England, June 2017

^{18 &#}x27;Financial Stability Report: June 2017 Issue No. 41' (page viii), Bank of England, June 2017

¹⁹ 'Asset Management in the UK 2016-2017: The Investment Association Annual Survey' (page 17), The Investment Association, September 2017

A study undertaken by Oliver Wyman: 'One Year on from the Brexit Vote: A briefing for the wholesale banks', Oliver Wyman, 2017. Original figures \$30-50 billion, converted to £ using Bank of England daily spot exchange rate for 30 June 2017

²¹ 'United Kingdom financial sector assessment program', International Monetary Fund, June 2016

- 60. As the UK leaves the EU and the Single Market, it recognises the need for a new and fair balance of rights and responsibilities. The UK can no longer operate under the EU's "passporting" regime, as this is intrinsic to the Single Market of which it will no longer be a member.
- 61. In addition, given the importance of financial services to financial stability, both the UK and the EU will wish to maintain autonomy of decision-making and the ability to legislate for their own interests. For example, in some cases, the UK will need to be able to impose higher than global standards to manage its financial stability exposure. In other areas, the UK market contains products and business models that are different to those found elsewhere in the EU, and regulation would need to reflect these differences. The decision on whether and on what terms the UK should have access to the EU's markets will be a matter for the EU, and vice versa. However, a coordinated approach leading to compatible regulation is also essential for promoting financial stability and avoiding regulatory arbitrage.
- 62. The EU has third country equivalence regimes which provide limited access for some of its third country partners to some areas of EU financial services markets. These regimes are not sufficient to deal with a third country whose financial markets are as deeply interconnected with the EU's as those of the UK are. In particular, the existing regimes do not provide for:
 - a. institutional dialogue, meaning there is no bilateral mechanism for the EU and the third country to discuss changes to their rules on financial services in order to maximise the chance of maintaining compatible rules, and to minimise the risks of regulatory arbitrage or threats to financial stability;
 - b. a mediated solution where equivalence is threatened by a divergence of rules or supervisory practices;
 - c. sufficient tools for reciprocal supervisory cooperation, information sharing, crisis procedures, or the supervision of cross-border financial market infrastructure;
 - d. some services, where clients in the UK and the EU currently benefit from integrated markets and cross-border business models. This would lead to unnecessary fragmentation of markets and increased costs to consumers and businesses; or
 - e. phased adjustments and careful management of the impacts of change, so that businesses face a predictable environment.
- 63. In this context, the UK proposes a new economic and regulatory arrangement with the EU in financial services. This would maintain the economic benefits of cross-border provision of the most important international financial services traded between the UK and the EU those that generate the greatest economies of scale and scope while preserving regulatory and supervisory cooperation, and maintaining financial stability, market integrity and consumer protection.

- 64. This new economic and regulatory arrangement would be based on the principle of autonomy for each party over decisions regarding access to its market, with a bilateral framework of treaty-based commitments to underpin the operation of the relationship, ensure transparency and stability, and promote cooperation. Such an arrangement would respect the regulatory autonomy of both parties, while ensuring decisions made by either party are implemented in line with agreed processes, and that provision is made for necessary consultation and collaboration between the parties.
- 65. As part of this, the existing autonomous frameworks for equivalence would need to be expanded, to reflect the fact that equivalence as it exists today is not sufficient in scope for the breadth of the interconnectedness of UK-EU financial services provision. A new arrangement would need to encompass a broader range of cross-border activities that reflect global financial business models and the high degree of economic integration. The UK recognises, however, that this arrangement cannot replicate the EU's passporting regime.
- 66. As the UK and the EU start from a position of identical rules and entwined supervisory frameworks, the UK proposes that there should be reciprocal recognition of equivalence under all existing third country regimes, taking effect at the end of the implementation period. This reflects the reality that all relevant criteria, including continued supervisory cooperation, can readily be satisfied by both the UK and the EU. It would also provide initial confidence in the system to firms and markets.
- 67. Although future determinations of equivalence would be an autonomous matter for each party, the new arrangement should include provisions through the bilateral arrangement for:
 - a. common principles for the governance of the relationship;
 - b. extensive supervisory cooperation and regulatory dialogue; and
 - c. predictable, transparent and robust processes.

Common principles for the governance of the relationship

68. As established in many existing EU provisions, this approach would be based on an evidence-based judgement of the equivalence of outcomes achieved by the respective regulatory and supervisory regimes. The UK and the EU would set out a shared intention to avoid adopting regulations that produce divergent outcomes in relation to cross-border financial services. In practice, as the UK and the EU have since the financial crisis, the UK will continue to be active in shaping international rules, and will continue to uphold global norms. To reflect this, the UK-EU arrangement should include common objectives, such as maintaining economic relations of broad scope, preserving regulatory compatibility, and supporting collaboration – bilaterally and in multilateral fora – to manage shared interests such as financial stability and the prevention of regulatory arbitrage.

Extensive supervisory cooperation and regulatory dialogue

- 69. The UK proposes that the UK and the EU would commit to an overall framework that supports extensive collaboration and dialogue.
 - a. Regulatory dialogue: for equivalence to be maintained over the long term, the UK and the EU should be able to understand and comment on each other's proposals at an early stage through a structured consultative process of dialogue at political and technical level, while respecting the autonomy of each side's legislative process and decision-making.
 - b. Supervisory cooperation: in a close economic relationship between the UK and the EU financial services sectors, it would be necessary to ensure close supervisory cooperation in relation to firms which pose a systemic risk and/or that provide significant cross-border services on the basis of equivalence. It will be essential for the UK and the EU to commit to reciprocal and close cooperation to protect consumers, financial stability and market integrity with codified procedures for routine cooperation and for coordination in crisis situations. This should include appropriate reciprocal participation in supervisory colleges, which are coordination structures that bring together regulatory authorities involved in the supervision of banks and other major financial institutions as well as other supervisory structures, including information exchange, mechanisms for consultation over decisions affecting the other party, and arrangements for the supervision of market infrastructure.

Predictable, transparent and robust processes

- 70. To give business the certainty necessary to plan and invest, transparent processes would be needed to ensure the relationship is stable, reliable and enduring. The UK envisages that some of these processes would be bilaterally agreed and treaty-based; others would be achieved through the autonomous measures of the parties.
 - a. Transparent assessment methodology: the process for assessing equivalence should be based on clear and common objectives; make use of consultation with industry and other stakeholders; and include the possibility of using expert panels.
 - b. Structured withdrawal process: if circumstances arise that cause either party to wish to withdraw equivalence, there should be an initial period of consultation on possible solutions to maintain equivalence. Either party may also indicate to the other that it no longer seeks equivalence in a certain area. There should then be clear timelines and notice periods, which are appropriate for the scale of the change before it takes effect. There should also be a safeguard for acquired rights to avoid risks to financial stability, market integrity or consumer protection from sudden changes to the regulatory environment.
 - c. Long-term stabilisation: in accordance with WTO principles, there should be a presumption against unilateral changes that narrow the terms of existing market access regimes, other than in exceptional circumstances. This would mean each side trying to avoid future changes that assess equivalence in entirely new ways that could destabilise an established relationship. Existing equivalence decisions should only lapse after a new decision has been taken.

71. Finally, where disputes arise between the UK and the EU on the binding treaty-based commitments, the institutional arrangements set out in further detail in chapter 4 should apply.

1.4 Framework for mobility

72. EU citizens are integral to communities across the UK, with 3.5 million EU citizens living in the UK.²² Approximately 800,000 UK nationals play an equally important role in communities across the EU.²³ The UK and the EU have already reached an agreement on citizens' rights which provides EU citizens living in the UK and UK nationals living in the EU before the end of the implementation period with certainty about their rights going forward. Individuals will continue to be able to move, live and work on the same basis as now up until the end of December 2020.

1.4.1 Ending free movement of people

- 73. In future it will be for the UK Government and Parliament to determine the domestic immigration rules that will apply. Free movement of people will end as the UK leaves the EU. The Immigration Bill will bring EU migration under UK law, enabling the UK to set out its future immigration system in domestic legislation.
- 74. The UK will design a system that works for all parts of the UK. The Migration Advisory Committee (MAC) report, due in September 2018, will provide important evidence on patterns of EU migration and the role of migration in the wider economy to inform this. Further details of the UK's future immigration system will be set out in due course.
- 75. The UK will continue to be an open and tolerant nation, and will want to continue to attract the brightest and best, from the EU and elsewhere. The UK's future immigration arrangements will set out how those from the EU and elsewhere can apply to come and work in the UK. This will be crucial to supporting its public services, as well as enhancing the UK's attractiveness for research, development and innovation.

1.4.2 Future mobility arrangements

76. Any future mobility arrangements will be consistent with the ending of free movement, respecting the UK's control of its borders and the Government's objective to control and reduce net migration. Trade agreements which cover trade in services include provisions on the mobility of people for the provision of services (known as 'Mode 4' commitments). Given the depth of the relationship and close ties between the peoples of the UK and the EU, the UK will make a sovereign choice in a defined

²³ 'Living abroad: British residents living in the EU: April 2018', ONS, April 2018. Estimate is at 1 January 2017 and excludes Ireland

^{&#}x27;Population of the UK by country of birth and nationality', ONS, May 2018. Estimate covers January 2017 to December 2017 and excludes Irish nationals. In 2017, the UK was also the most popular residence in the EU for long-term migrants from Ireland, France, Cyprus, Latvia, Lithuania, Malta, Poland and Sweden (Population on 1 January by age group, sex and citizenship', Eurostat, 2017 Note: Data is unavailable on EU citizens living in Malta, Cyprus and Spain)

- a. support businesses to provide services and to move their talented people;
- b. allow citizens to travel freely, without a visa, for tourism and temporary business activity;
- facilitate mobility for students and young people, enabling them to continue to benefit from world leading universities and the cultural experiences the UK and the EU have to offer;
- d. are as streamlined as possible to ensure smooth passage for legitimate travel while strengthening the security of the UK's borders; and
- e. provide for other defined mobility provisions, including arrangements to ensure that UK citizens living in the EU, in future, continue to benefit from their pension entitlements and associated healthcare.
- 77. These proposals are without prejudice to the Common Travel Area (CTA) arrangements between the UK and Ireland, and the Crown Dependencies. The CTA means that Irish citizens will continue to enjoy a special status in the UK, provided for by domestic legislation, distinct from the status of other EU nationals.
- 78. The principle of non-discrimination between existing Member States should apply to all of the provisions agreed as part of the framework for mobility.

Business and services

- 79. UK firms and global investors rely on the ability to move and attract talent to support global operations, and to send people to provide services across Europe. Indeed, mobility is a key element of economic, cultural and scientific cooperation, ensuring professional service providers can reach clients, advanced manufacturers can deploy key personnel to the right place, and scientists can collaborate on world-leading projects.
- 80. The UK would seek reciprocal arrangements that would allow UK nationals to visit the EU without a visa for short-term business reasons and equivalent arrangements for EU citizens coming to the UK. This would permit only paid work in limited and clearly defined circumstances, in line with the current business visa policy.
- 81. As is the case with non-EU countries with whom the UK has a trading agreement, the UK also wants to agree reciprocal provisions on intra-corporate transfers that allow UK and EU-based companies to train staff, move them between offices and plants and to deploy expertise where it is needed, based on existing arrangements with non-EU countries. The UK will also discuss how to facilitate temporary mobility of scientists and researchers, self-employed professionals, employees providing services, as well as investors.

Tourism

- 82. In the year ending September 2017, UK residents made approximately 50 million non-business related visits to the EU spending £24 billion,²⁴ and EU residents made over 20 million non-business related visits to the UK spending £7.8 billion.²⁵
- 83. The UK therefore proposes reciprocal visa-free travel arrangements to enable UK and EU citizens to continue to travel freely for tourism in the future, maintaining the close links between the people of the UK and the EU.
- 84. The Government wants UK and EU nationals to continue to be able to use the European Health Insurance Card (EHIC) to receive healthcare should they need it while on holiday.

Students and young people

- 85. The UK and the EU should continue to give young people and students the chance to benefit from each other's world leading universities, including cultural exchanges such as Erasmus+.
- 86. The UK proposes a UK-EU youth mobility scheme to ensure that young people can continue to enjoy the social, cultural and educational benefits of living in each other's countries. The UK already operates a number of youth mobility schemes with other global partners, for example with Australia and Canada, on which this could be modelled.

Streamlined border arrangements and administrative procedures

- 87. The UK already has existing arrangements with low-risk, non-EU countries that enable smooth access at the border, such as the Registered Traveller Scheme in place with a number of countries like the US and Japan. The UK wants to agree reciprocal arrangements with the EU that ensure smooth passage for UK nationals when they travel to the EU, for example on business or on holiday. The UK will strengthen the security of its borders, which should include exploring whether to apply the electronic travel authorities proposed for third country nationals to each other's nationals, and ensuring travel documents meet minimum security standards. But at the border, as now, tourists and business visitors should not routinely have to face questions about the purpose of their visit. The UK also wants to minimise administrative burdens for those seeking permission to travel, enter or reside in each other's territories, including short, simple and user-friendly application processes.
- 88. Streamlined arrangements are particularly important at the Gibraltar-Spain border, which is crossed every day by thousands of people from other Member States.

Other mobility provisions

89. While ending free movement, the UK will also make a sovereign choice to discuss other specific mobility areas. The UK will seek reciprocal arrangements on the future rules around some defined elements of social security coordination. This will be important for UK nationals who want to live, work or retire in the EU in the future, as

²⁴ 'ONS Overseas travel and tourism, quarterly', ONS, January 2018

²⁵ 'ONS Overseas travel and tourism, quarterly', ONS, January 2018

- 90. The UK will also seek to secure onward movement opportunities for UK nationals in the EU who are covered by the citizens' rights agreement. Some of these UK nationals have chosen to make their lives in the EU, and this should be respected in the opportunities available to them if they decide to change their Member State of residence.
- 91. The framework for mobility could also cover the recognition of professional qualifications held by UK and EU nationals as covered in section 1.3 of this chapter.

1.5 Digital

- 92. Digital is a fast evolving, innovative, sector that is driving economic transformation across the world. Digital sectors contributed £116.5 billion to the UK economy in 2016, representing 6.7 per cent of GVA.²⁶ Facilitating growth and removing barriers will drive competitiveness and help the UK tap into the potential from the top ten largest economies of the world, estimated by one study to be worth £890 billion.²⁷ It will be particularly important to have domestic regulatory flexibility, to ensure the UK can respond nimbly to new developments, and be at the forefront of emerging technologies.
- 93. Digital services trade between the UK and the EU will continue to be important, as both try to capitalise on the growth of digital technologies globally. While the UK will not be a part of the EU's Digital Single Market, the UK wants to develop an ambitious policy on digital trade with the EU, as well as globally. The UK therefore proposes a digital relationship that covers:
 - a. digital trade and e-commerce;
 - b. telecommunications and digital infrastructure;
 - c. digital technology; and
 - d. broadcasting.
- 94. The UK's proposals should provide a framework for enduring solutions, which are sufficiently agile and flexible, reflecting the fast evolving and innovative characteristics of the sector. The UK also proposes arrangements to ensure the continued free flows of personal data between the UK and the EU. The UK believes

²⁶ 'DCMS Sector economic estimates 2016: GVA', DCMS, November 2017

A study undertaken by Accenture: 'Digital Density Index: Guiding Digital Transformation', Accenture, 2015. Original figure \$1.4 trillion, converted to £ using Bank of England daily spot exchange rate for 30 June 2015

the EU's adequacy framework provides the right starting point for these arrangements but wants to go beyond this to allow ongoing cooperation between data protection authorities. This is set out in detail in chapter 3.

1.5.1 Digital trade and e-commerce

- 95. The global digital economy is built on the ability to collect, share and process data. This underpins not just digital trade but all trade flows. Any disruption in cross-border data flows would therefore be economically costly while unnecessary barriers, such as the unjustified localisation of data, could also have a serious impact on future prosperity.
- 96. The UK's proposals would include:
 - a. ensuring cross-border data flows, providing for the removal and prevention of barriers to the flow of data across borders:
 - b. protecting the free, open and secure internet, working with EU partners to lead the global effort to ensure that the internet is safe and open; and
 - c. recognising equivalent forms of electronic ID and authentication, ensuring that these are secure, trustworthy and easy to use across borders.

1.5.2 Telecommunications and digital infrastructure

- 97. Telecommunications services provide key digital infrastructure that society depends on to communicate and operate globally. In the UK, telecoms contributed £30 billion of GVA in 2016²⁸, with exports of services to the EU in the sector worth £2.7 billion in 2015 and imports worth £3.4 billion.²⁹
- 98. The UK and the EU have a joint history of regulatory innovation in telecommunications in areas such as competition reform and net neutrality. This shared regulatory vision has promoted consumer benefits, competition and investment. The UK therefore proposes:
 - a. joint commitments to an open and liberalised electronic communications sector allowing for fair, equal and competitive access for UK and EU businesses to public telecoms services and networks; and
 - b. continuing to share cyber threat information to ensure the UK's and the EU's infrastructure is robust, resilient and able to adapt to evolving threats online or to digital infrastructure.

1.5.3 Digital technology

99. The UK believes that trade should promote the development of new technologies, such as artificial intelligence (AI), and notes that they are vulnerable to non-tariff barriers. New and emerging technologies are also creating new and shared challenges. The UK therefore proposes exploring new models for regulatory

²⁸ 'DCMS Sector economic estimates 2016: GVA', DCMS, November 2017

²⁹ 'DCMS Sector economic estimates 2016: Trade', DCMS, June 2018

- cooperation between the UK and the EU to tackle these shared challenges and advance shared objectives in the future.
- 100. For example, the European Commission recently committed to set up a European Al Alliance to develop draft ethics guidelines by the end of 2018. After the UK withdraws from the EU, the UK's Centre for Data Ethics and Innovation intends to participate in this Alliance, alongside its European partners.

1.5.4 Broadcasting

- 101. The audiovisual sector is both economically and culturally important to the UK and the EU. The UK's creative hub contributes significantly to the development of products that are much in demand by European consumers.
- 102. The UK is leaving the Single Market. As a result, the "country of origin" principle, in which a company based in one Member State can be licenced by a national regulator and broadcast into any other Member State, will no longer apply. The UK is seeking the best possible arrangements for this sector. The UK's commitments to the provision of Irish language broadcasting in Northern Ireland by RTE and TG4, as set out in the Belfast ("Good Friday") Agreement and a subsequent Memorandum of Understanding with the Irish Government, will be guaranteed through UK statutory and domestic provisions.
- 103. European Works is a system designed to promote domestic European production and preserve cultural identity. The European Works content quota applies to works which originate in Member States and non-EU European countries which are party to the European Convention on Transfrontier Television of the Council of Europe (CTT). This requires broadcasters to reserve a certain amount of air time for European works. In the case of on-demand services, providers must promote the production of and access to European works.
- 104. As confirmed in the EU's "Notice to Stakeholders" in the field of audiovisual media services, works originating in the UK will continue to be classed as European works. The UK's position as a party to the CTT will not be affected by the UK's withdrawal from the EU, and therefore the UK will continue to be able to treat audiovisual works originating in the EU as European works.

1.6 Open and fair competition

- 105. Commitments on open and fair competition are fundamental to all trading relationships. Reciprocal commitments that go beyond those usually made in FTAs will be particularly important to support the breadth and depth of the future UK-EU economic partnership, and hold rights and responsibilities in balance.
- 106. The UK has been a leading advocate of the development of the EU state aid and competition regime, and has much to gain from maintaining disciplines on subsidies and anti-competitive practices.
- 107. Some horizontal rules are not primarily designed to ensure open and fair markets.

 Nonetheless, it is usual to include commitments on these areas in FTAs. The UK has

made strong domestic commitments to maintaining high standards on the environment, climate change, social and employment, and consumer protection, and will continue to meet its international obligations in these areas.

108. The UK's proposals include:

- a. committing to a common rulebook on **state aid**, to be enforced and supervised in the UK by the Competition and Markets Authority (CMA);
- b. maintaining current antitrust prohibitions and the merger control system with rigorous UK enforcement of **competition** law alongside strong cooperation with EU authorities:
- c. committing to high regulatory **environmental** standards through a non-regression requirement;
- d. maintaining high standards on **climate change**, noting the UK's world leading ambitions:
- e. committing to high levels of **social and employment** protections through a non-regression requirement for domestic labour standards; and
- f. committing to high levels of **consumer protection**.

1.6.1 State aid

- 109. The UK has long been a proponent of a rigorous state aid system this is good for taxpayers and consumers, and ensures an efficient allocation of resources. The UK has an excellent record on compliance, and has been among the lowest granters of state aid as a proportion of Gross Domestic Product (GDP) in the EU. In 2016 the UK gave 0.3 per cent of GDP as state aid, half the EU average of 0.7 per cent.³⁰
- 110. The Government has made clear that it is committed to continuing the control of anti-competitive subsidies by creating a UK-wide subsidy control framework. The CMA, which is a world leading competition authority, will take on the role of enforcement and supervision for the whole of the UK. The Government will continue working with the Scottish Government, Welsh Government and Northern Ireland Executive, when in place, to ensure the new framework for state aid works for the whole of the UK.
- 111. To support the depth and breadth of the future UK-EU economic partnership, the UK would propose to incorporate its domestic choice to maintain a robust state aid regime into its future economic relationship with the EU. In light of this, the UK would make an upfront commitment to maintain a common rulebook with the EU on state aid, enforced by the CMA. This is without prejudice to the UK's intention to develop new tailored arrangements in relation to payments to farmers and other land managers for environmental benefits, and the UK's future public procurement policy.
- 112. The UK's proposal for its future economic partnership with the EU would not fetter its sovereign discretion on tax, including to set direct or indirect tax rates, and to set its own minimum tax rates.

1.6.2 Competition

- 113. The UK has led the way globally in the field of competition law and enforcement and has one of the strongest competition regimes in the world.
- 114. The CMA is a highly regarded competition authority with significant powers and resources at its disposal to ensure open and fair competition, and a proven record of effective competition enforcement. It has a statutory duty to seek to promote competition, both within and outside the UK, for the benefit of consumers. After the UK leaves the EU, the CMA will want to continue to work together with DG Competition, building on their existing highly effective relationship, to provide certainty for business.
- 115. There are currently no strict requirements that apply to national competition regimes or requirements to have the same procedural rules. Instead, the UK has kept in step with the EU's competition regime, and has gone further than EU minimum standards. The UK legal system already has the key components the EU expects: it has a robust framework for merger control, and prohibits abuse of a dominant position and anti-competitive agreements. The UK's markets regime contains significant powers to investigate potential market failure and prevent, remedy or mitigate any adverse effects on competition.
- 116. It will be important to ensure that competition decisions are compatible. The UK will seek to work with the EU to build on established cooperative arrangements, such as those found in existing FTAs, to manage parallel merger and antitrust investigations. This should include provisions on sharing confidential information and working together on live cases, and ensuring that the UK and the EU continue to take a robust approach in enforcing competition rules.

1.6.3 Environment

- 117. The UK and its constituent parts have long-standing commitments to protecting the environment. The Government has been clear that the UK will maintain high environmental standards once it has left the EU, and has published a 25 Year Environment Plan for England to set out the scale of its future ambitions. Stootland, Wales and Northern Ireland have made clear that they have equally high ambitions. The UK has also fulfilled the commitment to consult on a new, independent, statutory body to hold the government to account on environmental protections. The UK is party to numerous Multilateral Environmental Agreements, and the UK is committed to upholding its international obligations under these agreements after it leaves the EU.
- 118. In the context of a deep economic partnership, the UK proposes reflecting its domestic choice to maintain high regulatory standards for the environment. To that effect, the UK and the EU should commit to the non-regression of environmental standards. There should also be a reciprocal commitment to ongoing environmental

³¹ '25 Year Environment Plan', Defra, January 2018

³² 'Environmental Principles and Governance after EU Exit', Defra, May 2018

cooperation, including in international fora, to solve shared global environmental challenges.

1.6.4 Climate change

- 119. The UK is a global leader in the fight against climate change³³ and was the first country to set out a long-term legally binding target for reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions in domestic law, in the Climate Change Act 2008.³⁴ Between 1990 and 2016, the UK saw the greatest reduction in total GHG emissions across G7 countries.³⁵
- 120. The UK recognises the UK's and the EU's shared interest in global action on climate change and the mutual benefits of a broad agreement on climate change cooperation. The UK's world leading climate ambitions are set out in domestic law and are more stretching than those that arise from its current obligations under EU law. The UK will maintain these high standards after withdrawal.

1.6.5 Social and employment

- 121. The UK firmly believes in the importance of strong labour protections while also embracing the opportunities arising from the changing world of work. Existing workers' rights enjoyed under EU law will continue to be available in UK law on the day of withdrawal.
- 122. The UK already exceeds EU minimum standards in a number of areas, such as parental leave and flexible working arrangements, and is a leader in many others. For example, on health and safety, the UK has one of the strongest records in Europe, and in 2015, the UK's standardised rate of fatal injury was among the lowest in the EU28.³⁶ The UK is also ensuring employment practices keep pace with rapid technological change in its response to the Taylor Review of Modern Working Practices. On equalities, the UK ranks fourth in the International Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans and Intersex Association (ILGA) Rainbow Europe index and also ranks above the EU28 average on the European Institute for Gender Equality 2017 Index.³⁷ The UK has also demonstrated its commitment to tackling modern slavery, for example through the introduction of the Modern Slavery Act 2015, and will continue to lead the global fight against it.
- 123. Given this strong record, and in the context of the UK's vision for the future relationship with the EU, the UK proposes that the UK and the EU commit to the non-regression of labour standards. The UK and the EU should also commit to uphold their obligations deriving from their International Labour Organisation commitments.

³³ 'Policy paper, International Climate Fund', GOV.UK, January 2017

³⁴ 'Policy paper, 2010 to 2015 government policy: greenhouse gas emissions', GOV.UK, May 2015

³⁵ 'GHG data - UNFCCC', UN Framework Convention on Climate Change, accessed July 2018

^{&#}x27;Accidents at work statistics (table hsw_mi01)', Eurostat, November 2016

³⁷ 'Rainbow Europe', ILGA-Europe, 2017 data - the UK is second to Malta in the EU28. 'Gender Equality Index 2017', European Institute for Gender Equality, 2015 data.

1.6.6 Consumer protection

- 124. The UK believes strongly in the importance of consumer protection, and is committed to maintaining high standards.
- 125. The UK has a strong track record, underpinned by statutory safeguards and enforcement mechanisms, in protecting consumers when they buy goods and services from businesses based in the UK and the EU. The UK has gone beyond EU minimum requirements in a number of areas, for example UK law offers a 30-day short-term right to reject faulty goods and provides a six-year legal guarantee period (five years in Scotland), well above the two-year EU minimum.
- 126. To ensure that open trade between the UK and EU economies is not at the expense of consumers, and in the context of the future economic partnership, the UK proposes to commit to maintain reciprocal high levels of consumer protection. There should be cooperation on enforcement, including provisions to allow mutual exchange of information and evidence, and a framework to work collectively on areas of wider consumer detriment.

1.7 Socio-economic cooperation

127. There are many other areas where the UK and EU economies are closely linked, including transport, energy, civil judicial cooperation, intellectual property, and audit and accountancy. The particularly close integration between EU Member States in these areas reflects their membership of the Single Market, and the UK recognises that it will not be possible to replicate this entirely once it has left the EU. However there are precedents outside of the Single Market for close cooperation. The UK will look to draw on these precedents in the future relationship, ensuring arrangements of mutual benefit to the UK and the EU that respect UK sovereignty and the autonomy of the EU's institutions.

128. The UK's proposals include:

- a. an Air Transport Agreement which seeks to maintain reciprocal liberalised aviation access between and within the territory of the UK and the EU, alongside UK participation in EASA;
- b. exploring options for **road transport**, including reciprocal access for UK and EU road hauliers and passenger transport operators;
- c. close cooperation on **maritime**, including with the European Maritime Safety Agency (EMSA);
- d. bilateral **rail** agreements with relevant Member States to support the continued operation of services through the Channel Tunnel and on the Belfast-Dublin Enterprise line:
- e. exploring options for our future **energy** relationship maintaining the Single Electricity Market (SEM) across the island of Ireland in any eventuality;
- f. a new **civil nuclear** relationship based on a comprehensive Nuclear Cooperation Agreement (NCA) between Euratom and the UK;

- g. seeking to join the Lugano Convention, and exploring a new bilateral agreement with the EU on **civil judicial cooperation**, covering a coherent package of rules on jurisdiction, choice of jurisdiction, applicable law and recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil, commercial, insolvency and family matters;
- h. exploring options on **intellectual property**, including participation in the Unified Patent Court and unitary patent system; and
- i. seeking EU equivalence and adequacy decisions under the EU's **audit and accounting** third country regimes by the end of the implementation period.

1.7.1 Aviation

- 129. The UK has the largest aviation industry in Europe,³⁸ and the UK's geographical position in the network is key, with around 80 per cent of all North Atlantic traffic passing through UK or Irish controlled airspace.³⁹ Air travel is vital in connecting people and businesses and facilitating tourism and trade. In 2017, 164 million passengers travelled between the UK and other EU Member States by air.⁴⁰ It is in the UK's and the EU's interests to protect the connectivity, choice and value for money that UK and EU consumers enjoy today. Moreover, the future arrangements should allow for innovation within the industry, giving flexibility to current and future airlines to offer greater choice and connectivity to passengers.
- 130. The UK will explore options for maintaining reciprocal liberalised access through an Air Transport Agreement. This would permit UK and EU carriers to operate air services to, from and within the territory of both the UK and the EU on an equal basis. This could be supported through an approach to ownership and control that avoids introducing additional barriers to businesses. There is precedent for this within the EU-Canada Air Services Agreement, which provides for the possibility of fully liberalised access subject to a sufficiently open bilateral approach to ownership and control.
- 131. As set out in section 1.2 of this chapter, the UK will seek participation in EASA. In addition to ensuring that manufacturers should only need to undergo one series of tests in either market, this would also support collective work on aviation safety, reducing regulatory barriers for businesses and ensuring continued high standards for safety across Europe.
- 132. The UK will seek close cooperation on air traffic management to maintain interoperability, and benefit consumers and the environment, through reduced journey times, lower costs and lower emissions. In addition, the UK will continue close collaboration on aviation security, so that the UK and the EU can continue to address evolving shared threats in the most effective way.

^{38 &#}x27;Beyond the Horizon: The Future of UK Aviation' (page 8), Department for Transport, July 2017

³⁹ 'NAT News 2016', NATS, 2016, accessed August 2017

⁴⁰ 'International and Other International Terminal Traffic 2017', CAA, 2018

1.7.2 Road transport

- 133. The road transport sector provides a highly efficient network of connections between the UK and the EU, supporting supply chains. While the vast majority of freight lifted in the UK is domestic,⁴¹ approximately 80 per cent of UK cross-border haulage is handled by non-UK hauliers,⁴² demonstrating the importance of continued connectivity to both the UK and the EU.
- 134. The UK wants to explore options for reciprocal access for road hauliers and passenger transport operators, and arrangements for private motoring. The UK is taking legislation through Parliament to ensure that a permitting system can operate if required. The UK has already agreed with the EU that the necessary conditions must be maintained for North-South cooperation on transport between Northern Ireland and Ireland. In line with the statutory provisions the UK has brought forward in Parliament, and the progress made with the EU on preserving cross-border cooperation, the UK will ensure that there is no requirement in any scenario for new permits for transport services between Northern Ireland and Ireland.

1.7.3 Maritime

135. The maritime sector is liberalised at a global level. On that basis, UK ship operators will be able to serve EU ports largely as now, following the UK's withdrawal from the EU. In the interests of tackling shared safety, security and environmental issues, the UK proposes to continue cooperating closely with both the EU and the EMSA, including sharing information on safety and to counter pollution. The UK is at the heart of the global maritime industry and has recognised expertise in areas such as safety and accident investigation, which are vital to ensuring the safety of ships, passengers and crew. The UK will continue to be a strong advocate for the safety and environmental performance of shipping, and an active member of the International Maritime Organization (IMO).

1.7.4 Rail

136. The UK and relevant Member States have a common interest in ensuring that cross-border rail services, the Channel Tunnel and the Belfast-Dublin Enterprise line, continue without disruption. Over 10 million passengers travelled on the Eurostar in 2017, and the Eurotunnel's passenger and freight shuttle carried 2.6 million passenger vehicles, 1.6 million HGVs and 51,000 coaches in 2017.⁴³ The EU and the UK have agreed that the UK will pursue bilateral agreements with France, Belgium and the Netherlands to ensure the continued smooth functioning and operation of services through the Channel Tunnel, and with Ireland to do the same for the Belfast-Dublin Enterprise line. Beyond those cross-border services, the UK will have the flexibility to shape its own domestic railway legislation to meet the needs of its

⁴¹ 'National, international loaded and unloaded, cross-trade and cabotage transport, 2014-2015 (million tkm)', Eurostat, 2017, accessed August 2017

⁴² 'International Road Freight Activity Statistics', Tables RSF0201, RFS0208, RFS0209, Department for Transport, 2017. Data for 2015

^{43 &#}x27;Traffic Figures', Eurotunnel, accessed February 2018

passengers and freight shippers, and reflect the unique characteristics of the rail network within the UK.

1.7.5 Electricity and gas

- 137. The UK remains committed to delivering cost-effective, clean and secure energy supplies. The UK has worked closely with European partners to liberalise and open energy markets, with wide-ranging UK energy sector expertise being highly regarded across the EU.
- 138. The Government is committed to facilitating the continuation of the Single Electricity Market (SEM) between Northern Ireland and Ireland. This is an example of North-South cooperation that has benefited consumers and the economies of Northern Ireland and Ireland. Negotiators have already made good progress on a legal provision to underpin the SEM in the Withdrawal Agreement and the UK will work with the EU to ensure that the SEM is maintained in any future scenario.
- 139. The UK is seeking broad energy cooperation with the EU, including arrangements for trade in electricity and gas, cooperation with EU agencies and bodies, and data sharing to facilitate market operations. It is common practice for countries to trade internationally in electricity and gas, and there has been a trend towards greater interconnectivity that has brought mutual benefits to trading partners, including lower prices for consumers and improved security of supply. Trade in electricity takes place through interconnectors, the physical links which allow electricity to be moved between markets. There are currently three interconnectors between Great Britain and EU Member States, one to France, one to the Netherlands, and one to Ireland. There are others in development, for example with Belgium, Norway and Denmark.⁴⁴
- 140. The UK wants to explore with the EU the options for the future energy relationship. One option would be for the UK to leave the Internal Energy Market (IEM). In this case, the UK would explore what would be needed to ensure trade over interconnectors would continue without automatic capacity allocation via the IEM system. An alternative option would be for the UK to participate in the IEM to preserve the existing efficient trading practices over interconnectors. In this case, the UK would need a common rulebook with the EU on the technical rules for electricity trading, such as the market coupling mechanism as well as a consistent approach to carbon pricing necessary for the market to function, which, for example, could be delivered by remaining in the EU's Emissions Trading System. However, the UK does not believe that participation in the IEM should require a common rulebook on wider environmental and climate change rules.
- 141. There are also advantages to close cooperation on technical and regulatory energy arrangements. The UK wants to explore with the EU the options for continued Transmission System Operator participation in the Inter-Transmission System Operator Compensation Mechanism, and continued membership of the European Networks of Transmission System Operators for Electricity (ENTSO-E) and Gas (ENTSO-G).

142. The UK is also putting in place arrangements so that, when trading after exit, businesses will have certainty that they will not face substantially different requirements compared to their current obligations under the Regulation on Wholesale Energy Market Integrity and Transparency (REMIT).

1.7.6 Civil nuclear

- 143. The UK will seek a close association with Euratom: a new relationship that is more comprehensive and broad than any existing agreement between Euratom and a third country and would help ensure the UK's standing as a leading and responsible civil nuclear state is maintained. This would be mutually beneficial for the UK and the Euratom Community, who will continue to share a common interest in ensuring energy resilience and security within Europe. Close cooperation on civil nuclear matters would also benefit citizens and businesses in the UK and across the EU, whether related to secure energy supplies, or the safeguarding of nuclear materials, equipment and technology.
- 144. The UK proposes that this new relationship should be based on a comprehensive NCA between Euratom and the UK. This should:
 - establish a cooperation mechanism between the UK safeguards regulator (the Office for Nuclear Regulation) and Euratom, enabling activity such as technical information exchanges, joint studies and consultation on regulatory or legislative changes;
 - b. provide for UK association with the Euratom Research and Training Programme, as part of an ambitious science and innovation accord;
 - c. ensure continuity of contractual arrangements for the supply of nuclear material, either by allowing for existing nuclear supply contracts with the UK to remain valid after the UK's exit, or by providing for their seamless re-approval prior to the UK's exit:
 - d. minimise barriers and simplify export control arrangements in the trade and transfer of sensitive nuclear materials, equipment and technology between the UK and the Euratom Community;
 - e. provide for technical cooperation on nuclear safety including continued notification and information sharing arrangements on radiological events and monitoring, with the UK participating in EU systems such as the European Community Urgent Radiological Information Exchange (ECURIE) and the European Radiological Data Exchange Platform (EURDEP); and
 - f. continue UK cooperation and information-sharing with the European Observatory on the Supply of Medical Radioisotopes.

1.7.7 Civil judicial cooperation

- 145. Civil judicial cooperation is mutually beneficial to both the UK and the EU. Businesses benefit from legal certainty in the event of disputes and are more confident trading across borders. Consumers and employees benefit from protections for weaker parties. Cross-border families benefit from clear rules to resolve disputes in sensitive matters quickly and efficiently. The future relationship between the UK and the EU should protect these advantages.
- 146. The EU has already shown that a deeper level of civil judicial cooperation with third countries is both legally viable and operationally achievable, including through the Lugano Convention, which provides for cooperation between EU and European Free Trade Association (EFTA) countries. Under this Convention, EU Member States and third countries apply the same rules on civil and commercial judicial cooperation, and commit to pay due regard to how each other's courts interpret those rules. This architecture provides a clear precedent for close cooperation between the EU and a third country.
- 147. To ensure cooperation can continue in these areas at least, the UK will therefore seek to participate in the Lugano Convention after exit. However, while the UK values the Lugano Convention, some of its provisions have been overtaken, and it is limited in scope. In addition, the European Council's Guidelines have suggested the possibility of going beyond existing precedent.
- 148. The UK is therefore keen to explore a new bilateral agreement with the EU, which would cover a coherent package of rules on jurisdiction, choice of jurisdiction, applicable law, and recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil, commercial, insolvency and family matters. This would seek to build on the principles established in the Lugano Convention and subsequent developments at EU level in civil judicial cooperation between the UK and Member States. This would also reflect the long history of cooperation in this field based on mutual trust in each other's legal systems. The Government will also continue to work closely with the devolved administrations to ensure that the future arrangements for cooperation with the EU take into account the separate and distinct legal systems in Scotland and Northern Ireland.

1.7.8 Intellectual property

149. Intellectual property (IP) rights play an essential part in encouraging the universal benefits of innovation and creativity, as well as protecting the reputation of products and services and helping prevent consumers from being misled about the quality or provenance of goods. The high quality service offered by the UK's rights-granting bodies and courts system help to make the UK one of the best places in the world to protect and enforce IP rights.⁴⁵

The UK's intellectual property system is highly rated in international indices. For example, the UK is ranked third in the world in the Global Intellectual Property Index ('Global IP Index', Taylor Wessing, June 2016) and fifth in the world in the Global Innovation Index 2017 ('Global Innovation Index 2017', The Global Innovation Index, 2017)

- 150. There is a long history of European cooperation on patents, which can be costly to enforce in multiple jurisdictions. Most recently, this includes the agreement on a Unified Patent Court to provide businesses with a streamlined process for enforcing patents through a single court, rather than through multiple courts.
- 151. The UK has ratified the Unified Patent Court Agreement and intends to explore staying in the Court and unitary patent system after the UK leaves the EU. The Unified Patent Court has a unique structure as an international court that is a dispute forum for the EU's unitary patent and for European patents, both of which will be administered by the European Patent Office. The UK will therefore work with other contracting states to make sure the Unified Patent Court Agreement can continue on a firm legal basis.
- 152. Arrangements on future cooperation on IP would provide important protections for right holders, giving them a confident and secure basis from which to operate in and between the UK and the EU.

1.7.9 Audit and accounting

- 153. UK and EU companies benefit from shared accounting standards and accounting and audit regulatory frameworks. These provide access to capital markets, foster investor confidence, and facilitate the cross-border provision of accounting and audit services.
- 154. There are numerous precedents between the EU and third countries for audit equivalence and adequacy, and accounting equivalence. The UK will seek EU equivalence and adequacy decisions under the EU's third country regimes by the end of the implementation period.

1.8 Independent trade policy

- 155. The UK's proposal for its future economic partnership with the EU would provide a strong foundation for the UK to establish a broad and ambitious independent trade policy with the rest of the world.
- 156. Trade is essential for growth and prosperity. It stimulates greater business efficiency and higher productivity, sharing knowledge and innovation across the globe. Trade boosts jobs, raises living standards and provides a foundation for stronger and more prosperous communities. It ensures more people can access a wider choice of goods at lower cost, making household incomes go further. Businesses also benefit from cheaper and better inputs, and trade is vital to the UK's prosperity total UK trade (covering imports and exports of goods and services) was worth £1.26 trillion in 2017.⁴⁶

1.8.1 Delivering an independent trade policy

- 157. As the UK leaves the EU, the Government is committed to ensuring that UK and EU businesses and consumers can continue to trade freely with one another, as part of a new deep and special partnership. The UK would also boost trade relationships with old friends and new allies. The EU itself estimates that 90 per cent of global economic growth over the next two decades will be generated outside the EU.⁴⁷ The UK is already seeking continuity in its existing trade and investment relationships, including those covered by EU FTAs or other EU preferential arrangements. The UK's exit from the EU will provide considerable additional opportunities for UK business through potentially ambitious new trade arrangements and meaningful trade deals that play to the strengths of the UK economy.
- 158. The UK's proposals for its new economic partnership with the EU would allow the UK to negotiate new international trade agreements in line with its priorities and interests covering goods, services, investment, data, government procurement, and intellectual property, consistent with the commitments in the economic partnership. Under the terms of the Withdrawal Agreement with the EU, the UK would be free to negotiate, sign, and ratify FTAs during the implementation period, and to bring them into force from January 2021. When concluded, these would be the first FTAs signed by the UK in its own right since the European Free Trade Association in 1960.
- 159. The UK would be able to pursue an ambitious bilateral trade agenda, taking full advantage of the flexibility its proposal for the future economic partnership provides. This would include agreements with the US, Australia and New Zealand. The UK will potentially seek accession to Comprehensive and Progressive Agreement for Trans-Pacific Partnership (CPTPP) and this would be on terms consistent with the future relationship with the EU, and domestic priorities.
- 160. On services, the UK would seek to achieve provisions at the cutting edge of global best practice, reflecting both the great potential to deepen services trade worldwide, and the significance of services trade to the UK which is growing at a faster rate than the trade in goods.⁴⁸ The UK would push for greater liberalisation of global services, financial services, investment and procurement markets, and seek ambitious digital trade packages.
- 161. On goods, the proposals set out in section 1.2 of this chapter, including the Facilitated Customs Arrangement (FCA), would enable the UK to set its own tariffs and vary them as it chooses, independently of the tariffs the EU applies. Under the UK's proposal, it is estimated up to 96 per cent of UK goods trade would be most likely to pay the correct or no tariff upfront, with the remainder most likely to use the repayment mechanism.⁴⁹ This would minimise administrative burdens and maximise the value offered by UK preferential tariff reductions, enabling the UK to make a strong and compelling tariff offer in negotiations. For the small proportion of trade

^{47 &#}x27;GDP estimates 2014-2020 and EU contribution to world GDP growth (year-on-year changes)', EU Commission, March 2016

⁴⁸ 'UK Economic Accounts: all data (January to March 2018)', ONS, June 2018

Based on 2017 data on trade flows, proportion of goods classified as intermediate/unfinished and MFN tariff schedules. UN Comtrade statistics, World Integrated Trade Solution tariff data, Broad Economic Category data, EU Customs and Taxation Union website

- where the importer would need to pay the higher tariff and reclaim the difference, processes would be as smooth and efficient as possible.
- 162. Where there is a material risk of circumvention of higher UK tariffs, the UK would make it illegal to pay the wrong tariff, and use risk and intelligence based checks across the country, rather than at the border, to check that the right tariffs are being paid. This would protect against fraud, ensure that the UK has an effective trade remedies regime and strengthen the UK's position in trade negotiations.
- 163. In the context of trade negotiations, a common rulebook for goods would limit the UK's ability to make changes to regulation in those areas covered by the rulebook. If the Government wanted to make a change, including in light of trade negotiations with other partners, it could discuss this with the EU through the mechanisms set out in chapter 4. However, the UK would retain the freedom to make changes in other areas of regulation if considered desirable domestically. It would also have the freedom to reach new agreements with third country trading partners on the underpinning compliance activity, for instance through the mutual recognition of conformity assessments. The latter would mean that testing bodies in partner countries could test products for the UK market, and vice versa. This could be achieved through the introduction of a UK mark.
- 164. The UK would play a full and prominent role in the multilateral and plurilateral trade agenda, as a member of the Government Procurement Agreement in its own right, working with others to make progress on the Trade in Services Agreement, and seeking new agreements in areas of significance to the global economy such as digital.
- 165. More widely, the UK would have its own seat and vote in the WTO, where it would support the rules-based global trading system. It would become an independent member, with the right to set its own trade schedules and strike its own bilateral, plurilateral and multilateral deals. The UK would advocate for the reduction of barriers to trade, particularly those stopping poorer countries accessing richer markets. The UK would also use its voice in the WTO to resist unfair protectionism, tackle unfair trading practices and hold others to account for the global rules.
- 166. The UK would aim to make trade work for everyone. The UK would work with all stakeholders to ensure the benefits of trade are widely felt and understood. The UK's approach to trade would align with its modern Industrial Strategy. That will be key to delivering an innovative, competitive and growing UK economy that benefits individuals and communities and makes sure the value of trade is more widely shared.
- 167. Free trade does not mean trade without rules. To operate an independent trade policy, the UK will need to put in place an independent trade remedies framework to protect domestic industry against unfair and injurious trade practices. The UK will be able to investigate cases and enforce measures that offer proportionate protections for producers. In preparation for this, the UK is identifying existing EU measures that are essential to UK business and will need to be carried forward.

- 168. In addition, the WTO's existing trade dispute settlement mechanism aims to resolve trade conflicts between countries and, by underscoring the rule of law, makes the international trading system more predictable and secure. The UK will be ready to act independently to protect UK interests should its trading partners fail to meet their international obligations and to defend any disputes brought against the UK.
- 169. The UK would support developing countries to reduce poverty through trade. As the UK leaves the EU, it would maintain current access for the Least Developed Countries (LDCs) to the UK market and aim to maintain the preferential access of the remaining (non-LDC) developing countries, including those countries with which it has Economic Partnership Agreements. The UK would promote the economic empowerment of all women through a gender-responsive trade policy. One study has estimated that if women played the same role as men in labour markets, as much as £18 trillion could be added to global GDP by 2025.⁵⁰
- 170. Global trade rules and agreements are only as good as the use that people can make of them. The Government will ensure that the UK's export and inward investment environments are world-class, supporting the domestic aspects of the modern Industrial Strategy. The frictionless access to the EU market provided by the FCA and common rulebook would also support the UK's ongoing attractiveness as a destination for Foreign Direct Investment for overseas firms seeking to service both UK and EU markets. This is likely to be particularly relevant to manufacturing sectors with integrated supply chains.
- 171. Taken together, the UK's independent trade policy will ensure the UK is ready for the opportunities and challenges presented by the global mega-trends: industrialisation and urbanisation in emerging economies; the rise of disruptive technologies in all sectors; a radical demographic transformation across the world; and greater, deeper, and quicker global interconnectedness. The UK will be agile enough to provide thought leadership on the shape and design of new global rules for new and disruptive technologies.⁵¹

A study undertaken by McKinsey: 'The Power of Parity' McKinsey Global Institute, September 2015.

Original figure \$28 trillion, converted to £ using Bank of England daily spot exchange rate for 30 June 2015

Renewable energy, advanced oil and gas exploration and recovery, advanced materials, 3D printing, energy storage, next generation genomics, autonomous and near-autonomous vehicles, advanced robotics, internet of things, cloud technology, automation of knowledge work, mobile internet

Chapter 2 – Security partnership

2.1 Summary

- 1. The UK and the EU face a host of new and growing security threats and challenges. These are unprecedented and do not recognise the borders of individual nations or discriminate between them. As the European Council guidelines⁵² set out, these threats are common to European countries, and they call for a pan-European response. Europe should stand strong and united in its efforts to ensure the collective security of UK and EU citizens.
- 2. The UK has already set out an ambitious vision for the UK's future security relationship with the EU.⁵³ The UK recognises that leaving the EU means the security relationship between the UK and the EU cannot continue on the same basis as before. Nevertheless, given shared interests and threats, the UK seeks an ambitious partnership covering the breadth of security interests including foreign policy, defence, development, law enforcement and criminal justice cooperation. It should be supported by ongoing cooperation through partnership programmes and key safeguards such as individual rights, data protection and robust governance arrangements, to underpin the trust which is essential to such a close relationship.
- 3. The future security partnership needs to protect citizens across Europe, including the 3.5 million EU citizens living in the UK⁵⁴ and approximately 800,000 UK nationals living in the EU.⁵⁵ The ability to protect citizens within Europe is increasingly intertwined with broader foreign policy, defence and development objectives outside Europe. It is necessary to have a single, coherent security partnership between the UK and the EU to address: the roots of terrorism and prevent attacks; identification of terrorists and efforts to bring them to justice; instability in the neighbourhood and work to prevent offering a haven for organised crime; migration challenges affecting Europe; the provision of development funding across the world; and the use of data in a range of contexts.
- 4. The UK and the EU sit at the heart of the rules-based international system as champions of multilateralism. The security partnership should reinforce the UK's and the EU's network of international relationships, including the UK's role as a leading NATO Ally and a permanent member of the United Nations Security Council. The UK will work alongside the EU and its Member States in international fora such as the United Nations (UN), G7, G20, International Monetary Fund (IMF), World Bank, Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) and Organisation for Security and Cooperation in Europe (OSCE), to promote global security and prosperity, and to hold to account those who seek to do the UK and its allies harm.

⁵² 'European Council (Art.50) Guidelines, European Council', 23 March 2018, Para. 13 (i)

⁵³ 'PM speech at Munich Security Conference', 17 February 2018

⁵⁴ 'Population of the UK by country of birth and nationality, January 2017 to December 2017', ONS, May 2018

⁵⁵ 'Living abroad: British residents living in the EU: April 2018', ONS, 2018

- 5. The UK's vision for the future security relationship is underpinned by five key principles. The relationship should:
 - a. **protect shared operational capabilities that keep people safe**. Working together through different structures should not be at the expense of protecting the public. The shared tools, measures, initiatives and capabilities that have been developed over the last 40 years have been proven to save lives. The UK proposals are both legally viable and operationally important.
 - b. respect the sovereignty of the UK and the autonomy of EU decision making. The UK will play no formal role in EU decision making and will make independent decisions in foreign policy, defence and development. National security will remain the sole responsibility of the UK and Member States respectively. These proposals ensure that the UK and the EU can continue to work together where it is mutually beneficial.
 - c. have an institutional framework that delivers a practical and flexible partnership. The UK proposal is for scalable arrangements that would ensure the UK and the EU can combine efforts to the greatest effect, and can be intensified when a crisis or serious incident occurs.
 - d. be dynamic and keep pace with growing global challenges and evolving threats. Where the UK participates in EU measures as part of its future relationship, it is in the shared interest of the UK and the EU to ensure that as these measures evolve, or new measures are introduced, consideration can be given to continued cooperation with the UK.
 - e. be underpinned by appropriate safeguards: respect for human rights, comprehensive data protection arrangements and robust, appropriate governance arrangements. The UK is committed to membership of the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR). The UK also has very high standards of data protection in line with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the Law Enforcement Directive, and intends to remain a global leader on data protection standards. The UK's approach to data protection is set out in chapter 3.2, and this would underpin the data flows and protections necessary to support the security partnership. The UK proposes that robust governance arrangements should be established, appropriate to the security arrangements agreed by the UK and the EU, as set out in chapter 4.

- 6. To deliver on these principles, the security partnership should:
 - a. be informed by the UK's and the EU's **shared security context**, recognising the links between the 2016 EU Global Strategy and the 2018 UK National Security Capability Review (NSCR), and their assessments of threats at home and overseas:
 - b. protect shared law enforcement and criminal justice cooperation capabilities, including the ability to share time-sensitive data and information, practical cooperation to investigate serious criminality and terrorism, and cooperation through the EU agencies Europol and Eurojust;
 - c. continue cooperation on **foreign policy, defence and development**, including consultation on the global challenges that the UK and the EU face, coordination where it is more effective to work side-by-side, and capability development to deliver the means to tackle current and future threats; and
 - d. support joint action on **wider security issues**, including asylum and illegal migration, cyber security, cooperation on counter-terrorism, civil protection and health security.
- 7. The security partnership will be a core pillar of the future relationship between the UK and the EU. The UK and the EU share the objective of an ambitious future relationship which protects the safety and interests of EU and UK citizens.

2.2 Shared security context

- 8. The UK and the EU share a common assessment of threats, as set out in the 2016 EU Global Strategy⁵⁶ and the 2018 UK National Security Capability Review (NSCR)⁵⁷:
 - a. The increasing threat posed by terrorism, extremism and instability. The threat of Islamist terrorism, demonstrated in despicable attacks across Europe, is expected to continue for the foreseeable future. Extreme right-wing terrorism also continues to be a growing threat. Protracted conflicts, including those ongoing in the Middle East, Sahel and Sub-Saharan Africa, have destroyed basic social infrastructure, stalled education, created large-scale humanitarian and development need and hampered economic growth. This drives migration, with criminals exploiting the vulnerable including through human trafficking and modern slavery. Conflict and instability can also allow terrorists and organised crime groups to thrive.
 - b. The resurgence of state-based threats. There is a well-established pattern of Russian State aggression and disruption, including Russia's indiscriminate and reckless use of a military-grade nerve agent on British soil, the illegal annexation of Crimea, the fomenting of conflict in the Donbas, support to the Assad regime and a sustained campaign of cyber espionage. North Korea has flagrantly violated international law through repeated nuclear and missile tests. Iran's destabilising activity in the Middle East continues. Competition between states in the Middle

^{&#}x27;A Global Strategy for the European Union's Foreign And Security Policy', European Commission, June 2016

⁵⁷ 'National Security Capability Review (NSCR)', Cabinet Office, March 2018

- East, South Asia and East Asia, including in the South China Sea, increases tensions and the risk of conflict.
- c. The erosion of the rules-based international order the UK and the EU seek to uphold, making it harder to build consensus and tackle global threats. This is most clearly evidenced by the repeated stalemates in the Security Council on the use of chemical weapons in Syria.
- d. The ongoing growth in serious and organised crime and its impact on security and prosperity. Serious and organised crime is inherently transnational and many of the threats the UK and the EU face within Europe emanate from overseas. Organised crime groups have a daily, corrosive impact on public services and infrastructure. The same forces that benefit legitimate business, globalisation and technological change, make organised criminal networks and markets more resilient. Wider economic cooperation is more important than ever in tackling anti money laundering regimes.
- e. The impact of technology, especially cyber threats and wider technological developments. Malicious cyber activity knows no international boundaries and has grown in terms of intensity, complexity and severity over the course of the last year. There are several established and capable states that seek to target and exploit UK and European networks and devices to gather intelligence or intellectual property. Indiscriminate, disruptive incidents cost billions in damage to Europe's economy. The proliferation of low-cost, high-end commercial capabilities, novel weapons and sophisticated data-driven technologies, including autonomous systems are also changing the security environment.
- f. Diseases, natural hazards and deliberate threats affecting the UK and the EU. No country is immune to an infectious disease in another part of the world. The Ebola outbreak in 2014 is just one example of this threat, where cooperation between the UK, Member States and the European Commission mobilised international resources and helped halt the spread of the disease across West Africa.
- 9. The world is becoming more complex and volatile. These complex and overlapping challenges are likely to remain security priorities for the UK and the EU over the next decade. To respond effectively will require a transformative approach, using the widest possible range of capabilities at the disposal of the UK and the EU. They require an unprecedented depth and breadth of cooperation to keep people safe across the whole of the continent.

2.3 Law enforcement and criminal justice cooperation

- 10. Criminals and terrorists operate across borders. The threat they present has grown in intensity, complexity and severity. Criminal networks are increasingly resilient and adaptable, exploiting technology and becoming involved in almost every type of crime.
- 11. The EU and its Member States have created a range of legal, practical and technical capabilities to combat these challenges at a European level through close cooperation between countries. These capabilities are mutually reinforcing, from the

- 12. It is vital that the UK and the EU maintain these capabilities in the future, while recognising that the relationship has changed. The UK currently participates in around 40 EU tools that support and enhance police and judicial cooperation in criminal matters.⁵⁸ Many of these tools work together to provide an integrated operational system to identify, pursue and prosecute criminals and terrorists.
- 13. The UK therefore proposes an ambitious partnership with the EU that goes beyond existing precedents in this area, covering:
 - a. mechanisms for rapid and secure data exchange;
 - b. practical measures to support cross-border operational cooperation; and
 - c. continued UK cooperation with EU law enforcement and criminal justice agencies.
- 14. The EU's position, as set out in the European Council's guidelines in March, is that the relationship will need to take into account the fact that the UK will be a third country outside of Schengen. The UK recognises that leaving the EU will have consequences for the nature of the security relationship between the UK and the EU.
- 15. Nevertheless, the UK believes there is mutual interest in avoiding the creation of unnecessary gaps in operational capabilities. It will be important that the UK and the EU approach discussions with a focus on achieving the operational outcomes necessary to protect the security of the continent. As the UK leaves the EU, the UK will continue to have operational processes which closely align with EU tools and data sharing systems which are uniquely compatible with the EU. This means it is possible for operational cooperation to continue, albeit on the basis of a different legal relationship.
- 16. The UK also currently cooperates on the basis of some Schengen measures such as the Schengen Information System (SIS II), despite not being a full member of Schengen, and there will continue to be a substantial number of people crossing the UK border each year once the UK has left the EU.
- 17. The EU and third countries have previously agreed new legal frameworks for close cooperation on other areas of the acquis through strategic agreements, where there is mutual interest in doing so.⁵⁹ A similar structured framework would enable the UK and the EU to continue cooperation on the basis of existing EU measures, whilst respecting the UK's sovereignty and the EU's decision making autonomy and with appropriate safeguards.

⁵⁸ 'Technical Note: Security, Law Enforcement and Criminal Justice', Department for Exiting the European Union, May 2018

⁵⁹ 'Technical Note: Security, Law Enforcement and Criminal Justice', Department for Exiting the European Union, May 2018

- 18. The UK therefore proposes a coherent and legally binding agreement on internal security that sets out respective commitments and reflects the integrated operational capabilities that the UK and the EU share. The UK's ambition is to cooperate on the basis of existing tools and measures that support these capabilities, amending legislation and operational practices as required and as agreed to ensure operational consistency between the UK and the EU. Such an arrangement would preserve shared capabilities, recognise that the relationship has changed and ensure that a dynamic relationship is maintained to meet the shared, evolving threats faced by the UK and the EU. This would:
 - a. provide a legal basis for future cooperation on the basis of existing EU law enforcement and criminal justice tools;
 - b. clearly define the scope of cooperation;
 - c. contain provisions that allow for new areas of cooperation to be added, where it is mutually beneficial, so that the future relationship is dynamic and able to keep pace with technology and changing threats; and
 - d. set out appropriate horizontal provisions on agreed safeguards that will underpin the future relationship.
- 19. The UK envisages these safeguards would include robust governance arrangements and a dispute resolution mechanism, as set out in chapter 4, supported by comprehensive data protection arrangements. The agreement should also include a mutual commitment to individuals' rights, noting that the UK will remain a party to the ECHR after it has left the EU.
- 20. The partnership should also include strategic and operational dialogues that allow the exchange of expertise and experience. The EU already holds Justice and Home Affairs (JHA) policy dialogues with a number of third countries, ranging from six-monthly meetings with the US to full consultation, and a mixed committee with Schengen countries on areas of Schengen-relevant JHA policy.

2.3.1 Data exchange

- 21. The international nature of crime makes the swift, effective and efficient exchange of data essential in modern law enforcement. Increasing volumes of data create a greater need to share and access different datasets quickly and securely, enabled by ever more sophisticated analytical capabilities.
- 22. The EU has established unrivalled mechanisms which allow Member States to exchange data including passenger name record information, alerts on wanted or missing persons, criminal records, fingerprints and DNA. There are either no precedents, for instance the European Criminal Record Information System (ECRIS), or very limited precedents, for instance Passenger Name Records (PNR), for non-Schengen third countries to participate in these measures. Nevertheless, despite the lack of existing precedents, UK participation in these EU data exchange tools is the only effective way to protect specific cross-border capabilities for UK and EU operational agencies.

- 23. Without the UK's participation in, and contribution to, these data exchange tools, there would be a significant loss of capability which would reduce the UK's and the EU's ability to protect citizens across Europe. This would mean EU law enforcement agencies lose the ability to identify serious criminals and missing persons as they cross the UK border. It would also result in a reduction in the UK's and the EU's ability to identify and track terrorist networks across Europe.
- 24. The UK therefore proposes an agreement that helps disrupt criminal activity and facilitate law enforcement activity through the swift exchange of sensitive information and data, including but not limited to:
 - a. information about airline passengers;
 - b. alerts to police and border forces, with access to systems that allow for efficient responses;
 - c. efficient, accurate and reliable exchanges of criminal record information; and
 - d. DNA, fingerprint and vehicle registration.

Information about airline passengers

- 25. Identifying known and unknown individuals involved in terrorism related activity and serious crime, and tracking criminal networks from their patterns of travel, are vital law enforcement capabilities currently delivered through the EU-wide approach to processing PNR data. The UK led the development of capabilities to use PNR data to protect the public, building intelligence on the activities of criminals and terrorists to help keep people safe, including through the establishment of a Passenger Information Unit (PIU).
- 26. As third countries, the US, Canada and Australia have agreements with the EU on the transfer by airlines of European PNR data to their authorities, but they fall short of the cooperation the UK and the EU share today. They do not provide for reciprocal exchange for police and judicial cooperation, and do not enable third countries to work with EU Member States' PIUs to identify travel patterns in the same way as Member States are able to do under the PNR Directive. The UK will therefore seek to maintain the UK's and the EU's capabilities on analysis of PNR, including for intra-EU flights, based on the PNR Directive and its accompanying safeguards and rules.

Alerts to police and border forces

- 27. The ability to share and act on real-time data on wanted criminals, missing persons, suspected terrorists and stolen objects ensures they are detected at border crossings and through national police databases. SIS II currently enables police and border force staff to enter and find alerts on wanted or missing persons and objects.
- 28. In 2017, the UK created over 1.4 million alerts on SIS II. In 2017 alone, UK authorities registered almost 10,000 hits against alerts put on the system by other countries,⁶⁰ many of which were related to people linked to terrorism, sex offences, missing children and fugitives.

⁶⁰ 'National Crime Agency supplementary written evidence to EU Home Affairs Sub-Committee inquiry into the proposed UK-EU security treaty after Brexit (PST0015)', Home Affairs Committee, July 2018

- 29. The UK's participation in SIS II means that when an EU Member State issues an European Arrest Warrant (EAW), it is transmitted to police and border forces in the UK, and vice versa. This increases the chance of a suspect who has evaded police being arrested in the UK or another Member State and extradited to face justice.
- 30. SIS II is a major shared operational capability for law enforcement and security agencies across Europe. The UK would protect that capability through maintaining the reciprocal ability to transmit alerts in real time, with access to systems that allow for a timely and efficient response to these alerts through SIS II.
- 31. As the UK leaves the EU, free movement of people will end. But the numbers of EU nationals living in the UK and the volume of passenger arrivals entering the UK, approximately 130 million in the year ending June 2017, demonstrate just how important it is to continue to share information that can prevent and detect serious crime and terrorism. By continuing to participate in SIS II, the UK would remain bound by its rules, including peer evaluation. The UK is committed to ensuring full compliance in the implementation of SIS II and other EU data exchange measures in which the UK participates in the future.

Exchange of criminal records information

- 32. The timely exchange of criminal records is a vital tool in keeping communities safe. ECRIS is a guaranteed and secure source of criminal records for use at any stage in criminal proceedings. Importantly, it is also used for vetting people who work with children and other vulnerable individuals.
- 33. Between 2014 and 2016, the UK was in the top three most active Member States on ECRIS. In 2016, the UK notified Member States of more than 35,000 convictions handed down to their nationals in the UK, and responded to almost 13,500 requests for information from the EU relating to UK nationals offending in the EU.⁶²
- 34. The UK proposes continued participation in ECRIS as part of the new legal relationship. There is currently no precedent for Member States to systematically exchange criminal records with third countries. Consequently, under the EU's current approach of basing the future relationship on existing precedents for cooperation with third countries, the UK would cease to contribute to and participate in ECRIS. That would deny EU Member States timely access to large volumes of vital information that currently protects the most vulnerable people and supports justice systems to be fair and effective across Europe.

⁶¹ 'How many people come to the UK each year?' Home Office National Statistics, August 2017. This includes returning UK nationals

⁶² 'National Crime Agency written evidence to Home Affairs Committee inquiry into UK-EU security cooperation after Brexit (PSC009)', Home Affairs Committee, February 2018

DNA, fingerprint and vehicle registration data

- 35. Exchanging national DNA data, fingerprints and vehicle registration data helps law enforcement agencies investigate criminality and terrorism. The data exchange tool 'Prüm' currently enables Member States to exchange data in a faster and more efficient way.
- 36. When the UK piloted Prüm in 2015, approximately 2,500 DNA profiles were shared by the UK with the Netherlands, Spain, France and Germany. The result was 118 hits for offences such as rape, sexual assault and burglary.⁶³ The UK holds five million DNA profiles, which would nearly double those currently available to the Prüm community. The UK's 500,000 DNA samples from unsolved crimes would bring many criminals to justice.⁶⁴
- 37. The UK is ready to begin exchanging DNA and fingerprint data with partners via the Prüm system. The UK's approach has been fully evaluated and assessed and the UK has gone to considerable lengths to satisfy all parties of the UK's readiness to participate in full. The UK is seeking to resolve any final outstanding technical issues but is confident there needs to be no barrier to making a substantial contribution to this system. In the future, the UK will be able to run automated, real-time searches against DNA, fingerprint and vehicle data. The UK seeks to protect this capability as part of its future relationship.

2.3.2 Practical cooperation

- 38. In addition to unrivalled data exchange tools, the EU, together with the UK and Member States, has developed a range of practical capabilities that provide for effective cross-border law enforcement and judicial cooperation, all with the aim of bringing more criminals to justice.
- 39. As the UK and the EU design a new partnership, maintaining efficient and reliable operational capabilities will be vital, including but not limited to:
 - a. the efficient extradition of criminals and wanted individuals between Member States and the UK;
 - b. cooperation of judicial, police and customs authorities in different states; and
 - c. delivering cross-border criminal investigations and prosecutions.
- 40. New arrangements between the UK and the EU on law enforcement and security must respect Scotland's and Northern Ireland's separate and distinct legal systems, as well as protect and enable continued direct links between justice agencies and their EU counterparts. Similarly, any new arrangements must continue to recognise the independent role of the Lord Advocate, as head of the criminal prosecutions system and the system of investigation of deaths in Scotland.
- 41. The following examples of practical cooperation illustrate how these tools enable the UK and Member States to work together to act swiftly in response to real-time

⁶³ 'Prüm Business and Implementation Case', Home Office, November 2015

^{64 &#}x27;National DNA Database Strategy Board Annual Report 2015/16', Home Office, February 2017

developments, to arrest criminals who have fled overseas and to efficiently extradite them to face justice before the relevant jurisdiction.

Extradition of wanted individuals

- 42. The swift extradition of wanted individuals to ensure they face prosecution or serve prison sentences is a vital tool in delivering justice and helping to keep communities safe. The EAW has closed loopholes and transformed extradition arrangements within the European Union. The EAW has streamlined the extradition process within the EU and made it easier to ensure wanted persons are brought to justice, or serve a prison sentence for an existing conviction. When a request is issued for an individual wanted to face prosecution for a crime, the receiving Member State's courts recognise this automatically and start simplified domestic proceedings, avoiding the need for the request to pass through government ministries. This is based on the principle of mutual recognition and trust between Member States. The EAW continues to play a vital role in police cooperation between Ireland and the UK (including Northern Ireland).
- 43. Since April 2009, as a result of the EAW, the UK has arrested more than 12,000⁶⁵ individuals, and for every person arrested on an EAW issued by the UK, the UK arrests eight on EAWs issued by other Member States⁶⁶.
- 44. Existing extradition arrangements between the EU and third countries do not provide the same level of capability as the EAW. The agreement with Norway and Iceland was concluded in 2006 but has not yet come into force. Once implemented, it will leave a capability gap relative to the EAW, including additional grounds for refusal to surrender.
- 45. Likewise, reverting to the Council of Europe Convention on extradition would result in cumbersome, slow and significantly more expensive arrangements between the UK and the EU, delaying justice and reducing shared capabilities to keep citizens safe.
- 46. The UK recognises that being a third country creates some challenges for the full operation of the EAW as it stands, particularly in terms of the constitutional barriers in some Member States to the extradition of their own nationals. The Withdrawal Agreement will address this issue as part of the implementation period. The UK believes the arrangements for the EAW during the implementation period, which will take account of constitutional barriers in some Member States, should be the basis for the future relationship on extradition. This will be underpinned by the mutual trust generated by the long history and experience of operating the EAW between the UK and the EU.

Cooperation between judicial, police and customs authorities

47. Cooperation between judicial, police and customs authorities enables them to share evidence between different states and provide practical assistance in live investigations. Currently, this is done through Mutual Legal Assistance (MLA) within the EU. Requests can involve the exchange of information and evidence or the

^{&#}x27;National Crime Agency written evidence to Home Affairs Committee inquiry into UK-EU security cooperation after Brexit (PSC009)', February 2018

^{66 &#}x27;European Arrest Warrant statistics', National Crime Agency

- provision of practical investigative assistance. In the EU, a number of mutual recognition measures have been introduced to facilitate faster cooperation in this field, such as the European Investigation Order (EIO). This obliges Member States to recognise and action requests made by other Member States, as they would from their own authorities.
- 48. The UK routinely exchanges evidence with Member States to support investigations in a timely and reliable manner and in a way that is admissible in domestic court proceedings. Since the EIO entered into force in August 2017, the UK has received hundreds of requests. These levels are expected to rise as more Member States participate. Applying a streamlined approach to recognising and executing requests is therefore mutually beneficial to the UK and other Member States.
- 49. The UK proposes retaining an efficient and secure evidence exchange in cross-border criminal investigations on the basis of the EIO. There is no precedent for third country participation in the EIO. Although there are some precedents on MLA with countries such as the US and Japan, these agreements fall short of the levels of cooperation that currently benefit both the UK and the EU. The result would be significantly slower and less efficient provision of assistance that would impede justice being served. In contrast, UK participation in the EIO would enable UK and EU investigation and prosecution authorities to continue to cooperate on the basis of a successful, understood and highly effective mechanism.

Cross-border criminal investigation and prosecution teams

- 50. Given the intricacies of cross-border criminality, the coordination of criminal investigations and prosecutions between several Member States is increasingly important. Currently, this is done through Joint Investigation Teams (JIT) which are established to support criminal investigations and prosecutions across multiple jurisdictions. JITs enable more efficient, effective and speedier justice.
- 51. The UK contributes cutting-edge expertise and leadership to cross-border JITs that collect and exchange evidence in the investigation of the most serious crimes. The UK participates in a number of JITs, many of which are in partnership with one other Member State. Under the EU framework, third countries can be invited to join a JIT in some circumstances, but they cannot participate in JITs with just one Member State nor can they apply for funding or initiate the establishment of coordination meetings at Eurojust to discuss establishing a JIT. The current level of cooperation would not be possible if the UK were no longer able to join a JIT involving just one Member State, meaning investigations could be significantly delayed or compromised altogether. The UK is therefore seeking full participation rights in JITs including the ability to initiate them.

2.3.3 Agencies

52. EU agencies provide forums for exchanging expertise, sharing resources, coordinating investigations and developing new methods for cooperation. Having law enforcement officers and legal experts working in close proximity means operations and judicial proceedings can be coordinated quickly.

- 53. It is in the mutual interests of the UK and the EU for the UK to continue close cooperation with EU law enforcement and criminal justice agencies to:
 - a. prevent serious and organised crime and terrorism, via access to analytical capabilities and databases; and
 - enable prosecutors, magistrates and law enforcement officers to assist national authorities in investigations and prosecutions of serious cross-border criminal cases.
- 54. Where the UK participates in an EU agency, the UK will respect the remit of the Court of Justice of the European Union (CJEU) as set out in chapter 4.

Serious and organised crime and terrorism

- 55. Europol is the EU law enforcement agency that aims to strengthen and facilitate cooperation to prevent serious and organised crime and terrorism. Member State partners as well as non-EU partner states and organisations participate in Europol. The agency itself provides crucial analytical support and houses databases of significant law enforcement data that can be connected to better facilitate intelligence-led investigations.
- 56. The UK is one of the biggest contributors of data, information and expertise to Europol, providing key technical and operational knowledge to the development of new and existing EU measures. In 2016, the UK was the highest contributor to Europol serious and organised crime analysis projects, and the highest contributor of information in relation to firearms, child sexual exploitation and abuse, money laundering, cyber, and modern slavery.⁶⁷ UK liaison officers offer valuable expertise in dealing with other countries' policing systems and helping progress EU wide investigations.
- 57. The existing third country agreements with Europol do not provide direct access to Europol's databases and the streamlined exchange of data. They generally do not allow national experts to be embedded within Europol and do not enable the third country to initiate activity in the same way. The UK would not be able to maintain its current contribution to Europol on the basis of an agreement along those lines, in part due to the sheer volume of activity the UK participates in and the data that the UK shares.

Investigations and prosecutions of serious criminal cases

- 58. Eurojust is the EU agency that brings together prosecutors, magistrates and law enforcement officers from each of the EU Member States who assist national authorities in investigating and prosecuting serious cross-border criminal cases. It does so by coordinating the activities of the national authorities responsible for a particular case and facilitating the collection of evidence under EU and other international mutual legal assistance arrangements.
- 59. The UK contributes to Eurojust by providing specialist law enforcement intelligence capabilities and knowledge via liaison networks and national experts. In 2016, the UK

⁶⁷ 'National Crime Agency written evidence to Home Affairs Committee inquiry into UK-EU security cooperation after Brexit (PSC009)', Home Affairs Committee, February 2018

- participated in more than 80 coordination meetings at Eurojust and the UK coordinated over 30 of these, all of which support law enforcement activities. In 2017, UK support through national desk officers was requested 290 times, making the UK the second highest Member State receiving information requests and a net contributor to Eurojust.⁶⁸
- 60. If the UK's participation in Eurojust were limited to the terms of existing third country agreements, the UK and Member States would lose the ability to initiate bilateral coordination meetings and there would be limitations on the extent to which the Crown Prosecution Service and Crown Office prosecutors could work with Eurojust. As a result, there would be fewer opportunities for the UK to contribute to the work of Eurojust and reduced capability for the UK and the EU to cooperate in tackling serious cross-border and organised crime.

2.4 Foreign policy, defence and development

- 61. The UK, the EU and its Member States share values and interests. The UK deploys significant assets, expertise, intelligence and capabilities to protect and promote them. The UK will remain a committed partner, including as a leading NATO Ally and a permanent member of the UN Security Council.
- 62. The UK and the EU share a range of ever-evolving global security threats. To respond to these challenges, the UK proposes continued consultation, development of shared capabilities and combining efforts to the greatest effect where it is in the UK's and the EU's shared interest.
- 63. The UK therefore proposes a tailored partnership with the EU covering:
 - a. **consultation** and regular dialogue on geographic and thematic issues and the global challenges the UK and the EU face;
 - b. mechanisms to discuss and coordinate the implementation of existing and new sanctions;
 - c. arrangements to enable cooperation on crisis management **operations**, including using civilian and military assets and capabilities to promote global peace and stability, where it is mutually beneficial;
 - d. commitments to support a collaborative and inclusive approach to European capability development and planning;
 - commitments to continue to work together to address global development challenges, supporting a cooperative accord between the UK and the EU on development and external programming;
 - f. continued cooperation on EU strategic **space** projects, including their secure aspects; and
 - g. a Security of Information Agreement that facilitates the sharing of information and intelligence, as set out in chapter 3.3.

- 64. The partnership should be based on common values of peace, democracy, human rights and the rule of law, and the protection of shared interests. It will need to be flexible and scalable, allowing the UK and the EU to respond effectively to emerging threats and international crises as they arise.
- 65. Future UK-EU foreign policy, defence and development cooperation is likely to require a combination of formal agreements enabling coordination on a case-by-case basis. Given the particular intergovernmental nature of foreign and defence policy, it is especially important that the partnership must respect the sovereignty of the UK and the autonomy of the EU and its Member States.
- 66. The UK and the EU agree that arrangements for future cooperation on foreign and defence policy could come into effect during the implementation period. This would allow the UK and the EU to benefit from closer, more intense and more productive cooperation than the EU enjoys with any other partner. It would ensure that there is no drop off in mutual efforts to support European security and that the UK and the EU remain able to respond most effectively to crises ahead.

2.4.1 Consultation and coordination

- 67. Consultation is vital for an effective foreign, defence and development policy partnership that allows the UK, the EU and its Member States to combine efforts around the world to the greatest effect and achieve common objectives.
- 68. The future security partnership should enable flexible responses where different situations and policy issues require them.
- 69. The UK proposes:
 - a. consultation across all foreign policy areas, with regular dialogue between
 officials, ad hoc invitations to meetings, for example to the Political and Security
 Committee in informal sessions, provisions for discussion between EU27 leaders
 and the UK Prime Minister and at other political levels;
 - b. information and intelligence sharing, for example through the EU Intelligence and Situation Centre (INTCEN),⁶⁹ European Union Satellite Centre (SATCEN)⁷⁰ and EU Military Staff (EUMS);⁷¹
 - c. reciprocal exchange of expertise and personnel in areas of mutual interest and collaboration, which would enable greater understanding between the UK and the EU and thus facilitate practical cooperation; and
 - d. cooperation in multilateral fora, such as the UN, G7, G20, IMF, OECD, OSCE and World Bank, and in third countries, to enable the use of other foreign policy levers, including an option to agree shared positions and statements, joint demarches

The EU Intelligence and Situation Centre (EU INTCEN) is an intelligence body of the External Action Service (EEAS) of the European Union (EU) under the authority of the EU's High Representative

The European Satellite Centre (SATCEN) supports the Common Foreign and Security Policy (CFSP) by providing services based on space assets and collateral data

The European Union Military Staff (EUMS) is the Directorate-General of the European Union's (EU) External Action Service (EEAS) that contributes to the EU's Common Security and Defence Policy (CSDP) by providing strategic advice to the High Representative (HR/VP)

- and jointly organised events, as well as cooperation on consular provision and protection.
- 70. Much of this can be done within existing third country precedents in this area. Where the UK proposes going beyond these, it does so to reflect the unprecedented nature of the UK-EU security relationship, given its starting point, potential scale and the shared values and interests. The proposals described above are fundamental to working together as close partners around the world.

2.4.2 Sanctions

- 71. Sanctions are a key foreign policy tool and are most effective when designed and applied alongside international partners. As well as communicating a clear political signal, sanctions can be used to constrain or help effect a change in behaviour.
- 72. The UK currently implements over 30 sanctions regimes targeting approximately 2,000 people or entities.⁷² Around half of these are UN sanctions⁷³ and the rest are EU-coordinated⁷⁴.
- 73. The UK's new Sanctions and Anti-Money Laundering Act 2018 provides for national powers to impose sanctions. These powers will enable the UK to act in support of foreign policy objectives, including in partnership with others.
- 74. In future, it will be in the UK's and the EU's mutual interest to discuss sanctions policy and decide where and how to combine efforts to the greatest effect. Consultation and cooperation on sanctions should therefore include:
 - a. agreement to exchange information on listings, and their justification, as well as technical support;
 - b. UK-EU dialogue on future designations and regimes; and
 - c. intensive interaction to support coordination between the UK and the EU and the adoption of mutually supportive sanctions, including during crises.

2.4.3 Operations and missions

- 75. The UK will continue to collaborate with European allies and partners on military and civilian operations around the world. UK armed forces are engaged in active duties across the globe, including degrading and defeating Daesh in Iraq, providing humanitarian aid and combating the international drugs trade.
- 76. NATO will remain the cornerstone of European defence and security, supported by strong multilateral⁷⁵ and bilateral alliances and partnerships. The EU has an

⁷² 'Brexit: sanctions policy 8th report of session 2017-19', House of Lords European Union Committee, December 2017

^{73 &#}x27;Consolidated United Nations Security Council Sanctions List', United Nations, 2017

^{&#}x27;Official Journal of the European Union', Council Decisions and Council Regulations for sanctions regimes

The UK will maintain its active membership of the wide range of multilateral bodies and groupings to which we belong, including the UN, NATO, the G7, G20,OCSE, CoE counter-proliferation regimes and international financial institutions.

important, complementary role to play, including helping to prevent crises, countering hybrid threats, enhancing resilience and stabilising post-conflict situations.

77. The UK therefore proposes:

- a. arrangements to enable cooperation on crisis management operations, including using civilian and military assets and capabilities to promote global peace and stability, where it is mutually beneficial; and
- b. intensifying cooperation when needed, including during times of crisis.
- 78. There are opportunities to build on existing precedents for third country participation in EU operations and missions, for example through an enhanced Framework Participation Agreement. The UK welcomes the recent proposals from the EU for a more differentiated approach to Common Security and Defence Policy (CSDP) partnerships. The UK's involvement would be decided on a case-by-case basis so as not to prejudice the sovereignty of the UK or the decision making autonomy of the EU.

Using assets and capabilities in mutual interest

- 79. UK expertise and assets make a significant contribution to the EU's ability to deploy crisis management missions across the world. In future, UK contributions could range from the provision of specific expertise and intelligence, to the deployment of personnel, specialist assets or operational enablers, such as strategic airlift. The UK could also use its diplomatic network to support EU operations. The UK has offered to host an Operational Headquarters (OHQ) and consider future contributions to EU Battlegroups as part of the enhanced future partnership.
- 80. Any UK decision to deploy armed forces must be taken on the basis of adequate information and consultation. This is the case for the UK in any international operation. In order to enable the EU to make best use of UK assets, the UK would require sufficient insight, including access to planning documents. The UK could bring its significant expertise to support EU operational planning. This does not undermine the important principle that only EU Member States have a formal role in the decision making process and a vote over the launch of EU operations.

2.4.4 Capability development

81. Collaboration on defence and security capabilities will ensure that armed forces remain capable and interoperable, that the best use of defence budgets is made and that support is given to the innovation and global competitiveness of the European defence industrial base, putting European defence industry in the best place to compete in the global market. Europe's ability to act autonomously and effectively will be enhanced with the UK at the EU's side.

So far 25 third (partner) countries have contributed to 16 CSDP missions and operations. 'CSDP structure, instruments, and agencies', European External Action Service, July 2016.

- 82. The UK's defence research and development spending represents around 40 per cent of the EU's total. 77 All of Europe benefits from the strength of this sector. European collaboration has led to the development of cutting-edge technologies; for example, Meteor, a world leading air-to-air missile, is the result of collaboration between six European nations and has generated significant export orders. The future security partnership should support a collaborative and inclusive approach to European capability development and planning, including:
 - exchange and growth of expertise, through regular technical knowledge sharing, supported by UK liaison presence;
 - b. collaboration on specific projects, programmes and initiatives, including through the European Defence Agency (EDA),⁷⁸ Permanent Structured Cooperation (PESCO),⁷⁹ through a cooperative accord on defence research and development, and the European Defence Fund (EDF); and
 - c. provisions to ensure a competitive European Defence Technological and Industrial Base.

Collaboration on specific projects, programmes and initiatives

- 83. Future UK participation in EDA programmes and initiatives will be beneficial for both parties. There are precedents, for example via a third country Administrative Arrangement. The UK is also open to continue contributing to the EU's Force Catalogue to support the EU's assessment and prioritisation of its capability requirements. Proposals for the UK's participation in the EDF are in chapter 3.3.
- 84. Defence capability development is an area where EU structures are evolving, which underlines the importance of a flexible partnership. The development of PESCO provides new opportunities to strengthen Europe's defence capabilities, for example through improvements to military mobility within and beyond the EU. The UK supported PESCO's launch and wants to see it develop in a way that is coherent with NATO.

⁷⁷ 'Defence Data 2013-2014 and 2015 (est)', European Defence Agency, June 2016

Permanent Structured Cooperated (PESCO) is a political framework based on a set of commitments intended to improve the respective military assets and defence capabilities of participating Member States (MS). PESCO will allow groups of participating MS to join together to propose and pursue specific capability initiatives and projects.

Administrative Arrangements are agreements between the EDA and other EU institutions, international organisations or third countries, which enable these parties to participate in EDA projects and programmes.

The EU Force Catalogue describes, in qualitative and quantitative terms, the military capabilities that the EU Member States hold in their inventories, which is then compared to what the EU actually requires to achieve the EU military level of ambition as set out in the EU Global Strategy. The resultant comparison produces a list of prioritised capability shortfalls and recommends high impact capability goals, which the Member States are meant to develop in a cooperative manner. The member state contributions to the EU Force Catalogue are voluntary and non-binding, and not for operational planning purposes or for Force Generation.

The European Defence Agency was established under a Joint Action of the Council of Ministers on 12 July, 2004, "to support the Member States and the Council in their effort to improve European defence capabilities in the field of crisis management and to sustain the European Security and Defence Policy as it stands now and develops in the future".

85. The EU is developing proposals for third country participation in both PESCO and EDF. Current EDF proposals would limit the potential for third country involvement. The UK will work constructively with the EU to develop arrangements to facilitate mutually beneficial cooperation in future, respecting the EU's decision making autonomy. These arrangements should ensure that Member States can benefit from the EDF, while also working closely with third country partners on projects of mutual interest. The UK is seeking the best possible deal for the European defence industry and the UK's and the EU's mutual prosperity and security.

European Defence Technological and Industrial Base

86. The UK and the EU will both benefit from a globally competitive European Defence Technological and Industrial Base that ensures armed forces have the equipment they need. The future security partnership should support the effective operation and collaboration of UK and EU defence companies, facilitating complex supply chains. It should also ensure that the UK and Member States can work together on research and development projects, in support of the cooperative accord set out in chapter 3.4.

2.4.5 Development and External Programmes

- 87. The UK and the EU are both global development actors and share the same commitment to meet the UN Sustainable Development Goals, direct development expertise and spend to alleviate poverty.
- 88. The UK and the EU should seek to pool resources and exchange expertise to deliver the maximum impact from combined development assistance. There is a strong case for close collaboration in the areas of peace and security, humanitarian aid and migration. The UK is open to collaboration in other areas, and working closely with the EU to contribute to the EU's development and external programmes and instruments, where the EU and UK agree.
- 89. The UK therefore proposes a cooperative accord with the EU, as set out in chapter 3.4, that will allow for UK participation in specific EU programmes, instruments or bespoke projects, with appropriate influence and oversight.
- 90. The UK will critically assess the rationale for close collaboration depending on the situation and be rigorous in assessing whether each contribution to the EU offers value for money.

2.4.6 Space

- 91. The UK and the EU are both reliant on access to space technologies for national resilience and military capabilities, and to reduce vulnerability to threats such as hacking and severe space weather.
- 92. The UK and the EU should continue to cooperate closely on relevant space technologies, through continued UK participation in EU space programmes, including Galileo, the EU Global Navigation Satellite System (GNSS) that, once fully operational, will provide accurate position, navigation and timing information. It will benefit governments, citizens and industry alike.

- 93. The UK wants Galileo to be a core component of the future security partnership. The UK's continued participation in Galileo is in the mutual interests of the UK and the EU, benefitting European competitiveness, security, capability development and interoperability. An end to close UK participation would be to the detriment of Europe's prosperity and security and could result in delays and additional costs to the programme.
- 94. However, at present there is a fundamental difference of views between the UK and the EU about the conditions under which the UK could participate in Galileo. The UK has put forward proposals which are intended to respect the EU's decision making autonomy and establish a balance of rights, distinct from Member State access, and obligations.⁸² These include a UK ability to independently assure the integrity of the system, so the UK can rely on it for strategic defence and security purposes.
- 95. The EU has put forward proposals which have the effect of ending UK participation. This would be to the detriment of Europe's security and prosperity. The UK and the EU must work through issues relating to access to security-related elements of the programme urgently in the framework of negotiations on the security partnership. The UK's clear preference remains to participate in Galileo, in a new balance of rights and obligations, after it has left the EU. The programme must also offer value for money to justify an ongoing UK contribution. As a logical consequence of the exclusion and uncertainty surrounding future UK participation, the UK is exploring alternatives to fulfil its needs for secure and resilient position, navigation and timing information.

2.5 Wider security issues

- 96. There are a number of wider security issues beyond those in the preceding sections of this chapter which are important to European security and which should be addressed as part of the future security partnership.
- 97. This chapter sets out the UK's approach for continued cooperation, covering:
 - a. asylum and illegal migration, where the UK proposes taking a 'whole of route' approach to tackle the causes of illegal migration, agree a framework to return illegal migrants and ensure unaccompanied asylum seeking children can be reunited with families in the UK;
 - a new UK-EU strategic dialogue on cyber security to continue close cooperation in specific EU programmes, and agree a framework to work together internationally to promote shared values;
 - c. a new UK-EU framework for dialogue on **counter-terrorism and countering violent extremism**, working together on emerging threats, new capabilities and new opportunities where it is mutually beneficial;
 - d. continued support and expertise on **civil protection** and participation as a third country in a civil protection mechanism; and
 - e. ongoing work with key EU agencies on **health security** to enable information sharing and access to key datasets.

2.5.1 Asylum and illegal migration

- 98. Properly managed migration brings benefits to local communities and economies. But high levels of illegal migration present a global challenge, enabling organised crime, people trafficking and modern slavery to prosper.
- 99. The UK has a significant presence overseas, conducting capacity and capability building in source and transit countries and deconstructing criminal business models, through participation in development programmes and through seconded national experts. It is vital that the UK and the EU establish a new, strategic relationship to address the global challenges of asylum and illegal migration.
- 100. The UK therefore proposes a comprehensive, 'whole of route' approach that includes interventions at every stage of the migrant journey and ensure no new incentives are created to make dangerous journeys to Europe. It should cover:
 - a. ongoing operational cooperation, for example working with Frontex to strengthen the EU's external border, and Europol to combat organised immigration crime;
 - b. a new legal framework to return illegal migrants and asylum-seekers to a country they have travelled through, or have a connection with, in order to have their protection claim considered, where necessary. People should be prevented from making claims in more than one country, and on multiple occasions. A clear legal structure, facilitated by access to Eurodac (the biometric and fingerprint database used for evidencing secondary asylum claims) or an equivalent system will help achieve this;
 - c. new arrangements that enable unaccompanied asylum-seeking children in the EU to join close family members in the UK, where it is in their best interests and vice versa;
 - d. a continued strategic partnership to address the drivers of illegal migration by investing and building cooperation in source and transit countries;
 - e. continued UK participation in international dialogues with European and African partners, frameworks, and processes, such as the Rabat and Khartoum Processes, to tackle illegal migration upstream; and
 - f. the option to align and work together on potential future funding instruments through the cooperative accord on overseas development assistance and international action outlined in chapter 3.4.

2.5.2 Cyber security

- 101. There is a significant cyber threat to the UK and its European allies from state actors and cyber criminals. The UK has played a leading role in developing Europe's approach to cyber security with the EU institutions themselves, such as the EU Cyber Diplomacy Toolbox, and with related bodies and Member States in sharing threat intelligence and responding operationally to cyber attacks affecting Europe.
- 102. The UK's National Cyber Security Centre (NCSC) should continue to work with the EU's Computer Emergency Response Team (CERT-EU) to share information on cyber incidents. The National Crime Agency, one of Europol's European Cybercrime Centre's most effective partners, will continue to allow the UK and Member States to

bring criminals to justice and combat cross-border crime effectively. The UK shares a significant volume of classified threat intelligence assessments with European allies. For example the NCSC, part of the UK's intelligence agency GCHQ, shares cyber-related threat intelligence with INTCEN and EU Member States alike.

- 103. While that cooperation will continue, the UK proposes going further through:
 - a. close collaboration between the UK and the Network and Information Security (NIS) Cooperation Group, Computer Security Incident Response Team (CSIRT) Network and the European Union Agency for Network and Information Security (ENISA); and
 - b. building on existing cooperation to identify opportunities to work together through a regular strategic dialogue and to promote and uphold shared values and beliefs that existing international law applies to cyberspace, underpinned by a vision of a "free, open, peaceful and secure global cyberspace".⁸³

2.5.3 Counter-terrorism and countering violent extremism

- 104. Terrorists do not recognise international borders. While the UK's main operational cooperation on counter-terrorism exists via bilateral and multilateral fora outside of the EU, the law enforcement tools and systems that the UK has developed with the EU strengthen the UK's and the EU's ability to counter the terrorist threat.
- 105. The UK's contribution to, and participation in, EU tools and measures provides important additional counter terrorism capabilities beyond what is available bilaterally between the UK and Member States' operational agencies. Cooperation between the UK and the EU using SIS II and the EU PNR framework are particularly important to protect the public across Europe from terrorist attacks. The UK contribution to Member States' coordination through the EU Internet Forum has also led to increased pressure on communication service providers (CSPs) to deliver on their commitments to prevent terrorist use of their platforms and improve transparency.
- 106. The UK is committed to a security partnership with the EU, including Ireland, that will allow the Police Service of Northern Ireland to continue to tackle security threats, including the severe threat from dissident republicans, and serious and organised crime. Cooperation between law enforcement agencies in Northern Ireland and Ireland is vital to suppressing terrorism and will continue to be so after the UK leaves the EU.
- 107. Our new relationship should be dynamic and adaptable to respond to evolving threats. It should also enable the sharing of best practice and expertise on key issues and themes relevant to counter-terrorism and countering violent extremism, and assessment sharing and cooperation through the appropriate intelligence analysis bodies, such as INTCEN.
- 108. To support the shared aim of fighting terrorism and countering violent extremism, the UK proposes a framework for dialogue to work together on emerging threats, new capabilities and new opportunities where it is in the UK's and the EU's mutual interest.

2.5.4 Civil protection

- 109. Natural and man-made disasters can occur at any moment. They can cause not only economic and environmental damage, but more importantly loss of lives. Civil protection assistance consists of governmental aid delivered in the immediate aftermath of a disaster. This emergency relief can take the form of in-kind assistance, deployment of specially-equipped teams, or assessment and coordination by experts sent to the field.
- 110. The UK has been, and remains, one of the most active countries in civil protection. Between 2013 and 2017 the UK sent thousands of tonnes of assistance items and more than 1,200 experts for emergency responses.⁸⁴

111. The UK proposes to:

- a. continue to support Member States, the EU and other international partners with respect to preparedness and response; and
- b. participate as a third country in a civil protection mechanism, which supports European nations in preparing for and responding to disasters, benefitting the security of citizens across Europe and more globally.

2.5.5 Health security

- 112. Infectious diseases and other factors harmful to human health and life, whether from natural sources, accidental releases or deliberate actions, are geographical threats that require global responses.
- 113. The UK has worked closely with EU partners to make sure systems and infrastructure are in place to protect citizens within the UK, the EU and beyond from health threats that do not recognise borders. Maintaining the ability to act in a similar way in the future is key to protecting citizens. The UK proposes:
 - a. continuing close collaboration with the Health Security Committee and bodies such as the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC), including access to all associated alert systems, databases and networks, to allow the UK and the EU Member States to coordinate national responses;
 - b. ongoing cooperation with the European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA) to combat the harm caused by illicit drugs;
 - c. collaboration with the European laboratory surveillance networks to monitor the spread of diseases across Europe; and
 - d. continued collaboration between the EU and the devolved administrations in these areas, including direct sharing of information with ECDC and the ability for Microbiology Reference Laboratories in Glasgow, and Public Health Wales, to provide European Public Health Microbiology (EUPHEM) training.

Chapter 3 – Cross-cutting and other cooperation

3.1 Summary

- 1. There are a number of areas where cooperation supports or complements our proposals for the economic or security partnerships.
- 2. For each of these areas, the UK and the EU should agree specific arrangements that support ongoing cooperation. These include:
 - a. data protection arrangements that provide for the continued exchange and protection of personal data between the UK and the EU, and allow for ongoing cooperation between authorities;
 - a security of information agreement enabling the exchange of classified information;
 - a series of cooperative accords that enable the UK and the EU to work together in areas ranging from science and innovation to development and international action; and
 - d. an agreement on **fishing opportunities** that establishes a framework for reciprocal and fair access to waters and the allocation of opportunities, based on the most up-to-date scientific methodology, promoting sustainable fishing and respecting the UK's position as an independent coastal state.

3.2 Data protection

- 3. Data plays an increasingly important role in the global economy. Recent research suggests data flows already account for a higher proportion of global growth than trade in physical goods.⁸⁵ Data also helps keep people safe by maximising the effectiveness of law enforcement agencies and bringing more criminals to justice.
- 4. It will therefore be important that a future UK-EU agreement:
 - a. provides for the **continued exchange of personal data** between the UK and the EU with strong privacy **protections** for citizens; and
 - b. allows **ongoing cooperation** between Data Protection Authorities.

As indicated by McKinsey research: 'Digital Globalization: The New Era of Global Flows, 2016', McKinsey, March 2016

3.2.1 The continued exchange and protection of personal data

- 5. The UK is a global leader in strong data protection standards. As a member of the EU, the UK has worked closely with other Member States and the EU institutions to develop robust protections for personal data, ensuring businesses and law enforcement agencies can share data safely and smoothly.
- 6. Given the importance of data flows for economic growth and our collective security, the UK and the EU must maintain the ability to exchange data in a way that keeps personal data protected. New arrangements will also be essential in underpinning the economic and security partnerships. For instance, enabling consumers in the EU to continue purchasing goods from the UK over the internet, and supporting the exchange of data between law enforcement authorities to combat crime and terrorism.
- 7. Personal data can be transferred freely between Member States and European Economic Area (EEA) countries. Data can flow freely to third countries if the European Commission judges there to be sufficient protection for this data in the destination country. If the Commission assesses that an 'adequate' level of data protection is in place, an Adequacy Decision is granted for the third country, allowing EU businesses and public authorities to transfer relevant personal data without having to satisfy themselves that sufficient safeguards are in place each time data is transferred. It also avoids the need for other costly and burdensome legal mechanisms, such as Standard Contractual Clauses. The EU currently has 12 Adequacy Decisions in place, including for each of the Crown Dependencies, and partial Adequacy Decisions with the US and Canada. 86
- 8. The UK believes that the EU's adequacy framework provides the right starting point for the arrangements the UK and the EU should agree on data protection but wants to go beyond the framework in two key respects:
 - a. on stability and transparency, it would benefit the UK and the EU, as well as businesses and individuals, to have a clear, transparent framework to facilitate dialogue, minimise the risk of disruption to data flows and support a stable relationship between the UK and the EU to protect the personal data of UK and EU citizens across Europe; and
 - b. on regulatory cooperation, it would be in the UK's and the EU's mutual interest to have close cooperation and joined up enforcement action between the UK's Information Commissioner's Office (ICO) and EU Data Protection Authorities.

⁴Adequacy of the protection of personal data in non-EU countries, European Commission. To date, the Commission has adopted 12 Adequacy Decisions under the 1995 Directive with: Andorra, Argentina, Canada (for transfers to commercial organisations who are subject to the Canadian Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents (PIPED) Act), the Faroe Islands, Guernsey, Israel, the Isle of Man, Jersey, New Zealand, Switzerland, Uruguay, and the US (for certified companies). All are subject to routine review.

9. The UK and the EU start from a position of trust in each other's standards and regulatory alignment on data protection. The UK's recent Data Protection Act 2018 strengthened UK standards in line with the EU's General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR)87 and the Law Enforcement Directive,88 providing a unique starting point for an extensive agreement on the exchange of personal data that builds on the existing adequacy framework. The UK is ready to begin preliminary discussions on an adequacy assessment so that a data protection agreement is in place by the end of the implementation period at the latest, to provide the earliest possible reassurance that data flows can continue.

3.2.2 Ongoing cooperation between Data Protection Authorities

- 10. In the context of globalised data flows, cross-border cooperation between domestic data protection authorities is important in monitoring data protection standards and enforcing standards effectively. The ICO is an internationally respected, influential and well-resourced regulator in this regard. As a result, the future UK-EU arrangements on data protection should provide for ongoing cooperation between the ICO and EU data protection authorities.
- This would avoid unnecessary complexity and duplication, and overcome barriers for EU citizens and UK nationals in enforcing their rights across borders and accessing effective means of redress. A continuing role for the ICO would also reduce administrative burdens for businesses and provide for cooperation on resolving data protection disputes. Under the new EU data protection regime, this is achieved through the ICO's participation in the One Stop Shop mechanism.
- 12. The UK believes its proposals on regulatory cooperation between data protection authorities are in line with the EU's developing thinking on cooperation with third countries on data protection.
- 13. The GDPR recognises that the European Commission and EU Data Protection Authorities shall take steps to develop international cooperation mechanisms to facilitate effective enforcement of data protection legislation.
- 14. The Commission's January 2017 Communication recognised that "enhancing cooperation with relevant privacy enforcement and supervisory authorities of third countries is increasingly necessary" and that cooperation between these authorities could make the protection of individuals more effective. The Commission also noted that "economic operators would benefit from a clearer legal environment where common interpretation tools and enforcement practices are developed at global level".89

Regulation 2016/679

Directive 2016/680

^{&#}x27;Exchanging and Protecting Personal Data in a Globalised World', European Commission, Communication From The Commission To The European Parliament And The Council, January 2017

15. On this basis, the Communication states that "the Commission will develop international cooperation mechanisms with key international partners to facilitate effective enforcement".90

3.3 Classified information

- 16. The UK and the EU agree that arrangements allowing the exchange of classified information will be important in building the future partnership. These arrangements should reflect the depth of trust between the UK and the EU and facilitate common analysis, help inform operational planning and deliver cutting-edge capabilities. The exchange of classified information is fundamental to cooperation across the future partnership, especially in relation to security, but also in the context of economic cooperation. The UK and the EU have commenced discussions on a Security of Information Agreement (SoIA) on classified information, which should facilitate, but not mandate, the exchange of classified information.
- 17. The real-time exchange of classified information will be key to underpinning the deep and special relationship that the UK envisages across the future partnership. The UK and the EU also need to exchange sensitive but non-classified information, outside of an SoIA, to support some key areas of the security partnership, such as sanctions.

3.4 Cooperative accords

- 18. The UK has long been at the forefront of collective endeavours to understand and improve the lives of citizens within and beyond Europe's borders, working with friends and allies across the globe on areas including scientific research, international development assistance and the development of defence capabilities.
- 19. There have been significant benefits to this collaboration. For instance, publications with international co-authorship are on average more highly cited than UK domestic publications.⁹¹
- 20. It is therefore in the shared interest of the UK and the EU to continue this cooperation. The UK proposes to do so through new cooperative accords that provide for a more strategic approach than simply agreeing the UK's participation in individual EU programmes on a case-by-case basis. This strategic approach would ensure that the UK and the EU could build on existing activity or develop new forms of cooperation, taking advantage of emerging opportunities and responding to global challenges, where it was in both parties' mutual interest.

^{90 &#}x27;Exchanging and Protecting Personal Data in a Globalised World', European Commission, Communication From The Commission To The European Parliament And The Council, January 2017

^{91 &#}x27;Drivers of International collaboration in research', European Commission, 2009

- 21. Based on key areas of current cooperation between the UK and the EU, these accords should cover:
 - a. science and innovation;
 - b. culture and education;
 - c. overseas development assistance and international action;
 - d. defence research and capability development; and
 - e. **space**.
- 22. Each of these accords should support joint activity by the UK and the EU, including providing for the participation of UK individuals or entities in EU programmes, and enabling the exchange of expertise and information. Where the UK and the EU have an accord, the UK would make appropriate financial contributions that would be agreed between the parties, and each accord would need governance arrangements that ensured both parties could shape the activity covered, recognising these will need to respect the autonomy of the EU's decision making.
- 23. Regulations for the next generation of EU funding programmes are expected to be agreed and adopted over the next year, providing a basis for third country participation. These should inform the development of the cooperative accords, but the UK and the EU may want to go further.
- 24. The UK also wants to consider participation in other EU programmes in addition to those covered by the accords. For example, the UK remains committed to delivering a future PEACE programme to sustain vital work on reconciliation and a shared future in Northern Ireland. The UK welcomes the European Commission's commitment to a future programme protecting this work and broader cross-border cooperation, and is committed to finalising the framework for this programme jointly over the coming months.
- 25. The UK and the EU will also need provisions that allow for mobility in relation to these accords, for example enabling scientists to attend conferences and musicians to perform at concerts.

3.4.1 Science and innovation

- 26. As a leader in the advancement of science and innovation, and a top five collaboration partner⁹² for every EU Member State,⁹³ the UK plays a vital role in making Europe a base for pioneering research.
- 27. This collaboration is underpinned by shared principles of scientific excellence, openness to the world and European added value. Working in partnership has increased the impact of our scientific activity, leading to major breakthroughs, such

⁹² Collaboration measured by the number of co-authored publications

⁹³ 'Research and Innovation Performance and Horizon 2020 Country Participation', European Commission, individual EU Member State country profiles accessed 15 March 2018

as the development of an Ebola vaccine and the discovery of graphene, the toughest material ever tested.

- 28. The UK therefore proposes that the future relationship includes a science and innovation accord that:
 - a. provides for UK participation in EU research funding programmes;
 - enables continued cooperation through joint participation in networks, infrastructure, policies and agencies which are to the UK's and the EU's joint benefit; and
 - c. establishes channels for regular dialogue between regulators, researchers and experts.
- 29. On EU research funding programmes, the UK wishes to explore association in research and innovation programmes, including Horizon Europe, the Euratom Research and Training Programme, the Joint European Torus (JET) project and ITER. 94 There are a range of precedents for participation by third countries, which by their nature are unique to the participating country. For instance, sixteen countries are associated with Horizon 2020 and Switzerland has an agreement on scientific and technical cooperation with Euratom. The accord should also allow the UK and the EU to discuss and agree the UK's participation in other programmes in the future.
- 30. To support cooperation, the UK should seek to participate in specific policies and networks which benefit businesses, researchers, citizens and patients across the UK and the EU, including:
 - a. the European Reference Networks, which support European cooperation and knowledge sharing related to clinical care and research on rare diseases; and
 - b. the European Research Infrastructure Consortia, two of which are currently hosted in the UK, the European Social Survey and INSTRUCT, which promotes innovation in biomedical science by making high-end technologies and methods in structural biology available to users.
- 31. Regulators, researchers and experts would also need a regular dialogue to facilitate the cooperation outlined in this section, which would require suitable UK involvement through representation at strategic fora and committees.

3.4.2 Culture and education

32. The UK is home to a world leading creative industries sector. The £66 billion fashion industry accounts for six per cent of our economy;⁹⁵ UK qualifying films took £6.2 billion at the box office globally in 2017;⁹⁶ and one in every eight albums bought worldwide was by a UK act⁹⁷.

⁹⁴ ITER is an international nuclear fusion research and engineering project

⁹⁵ 'UK fashion industry statistics', FashionUnited 2016

^{&#}x27;UK films at the worldwide box office, 2017', BFI Research and Statistics Unit, March 2018. Original figure \$8.1 billion, converted to £ using Bank of England daily spot exchange rate for 30 June 2017

⁹⁷ 'One in eight albums bought worldwide in 2017 were by British acts, including Ed Sheeran, Sam Smith and Harry Styles', Official Charts, June 2018

- 33. The UK's cultural, sporting and creative exports are an expression of the values and ideas the UK shares with the rest of Europe, as well as being an important way to bring communities together. The UK will always be a European country that advocates cultural diversity as part of its global identity and is committed to continuing its support of European culture.
- 34. The UK also attaches importance to the continued mobility of talented individuals and groups to support cultural, creative and sporting cooperation.
- 35. The UK proposes a new UK-EU culture and education accord that:
 - a. provides for UK participation in EU programmes, and allows UK institutions to be partners, associates, or advisers to EU projects and vice versa;
 - b. facilitates continued UK membership of EU cultural groups and networks;
 - c. supports the restitution of cultural objects where these have been unlawfully removed; and
 - d. allows for the temporary movement of goods for major events.
- The UK's and the EU's current education cooperation is centred around Erasmus+. The end of the implementation period coincides with the natural end of the scheme. The UK is open to exploring participation in the successor scheme, and continued involvement in Creative Europe⁹⁸ to support the cultural, creative and audiovisual sectors.
- 37. The UK is a world leader in cultural protection, with recent initiatives such as the establishment of the Cultural Protection Fund and the ratification of the Hague Convention for the Protection of Cultural Property in the Event of Armed Conflict. Disincentivising the illegal trade of cultural objects will be important in the future relationship.
- 38. The current EU regime allows Member States to circulate details of cultural objects that are unlawfully removed and ask for assistance from fellow Member States for return of the objects. The UK proposes continued affiliation with the cultural object restitution regime system to underpin efforts to prevent the illicit removal and trading of cultural objects.
- The temporary movement of goods and equipment is a priority for cultural, creative and sports sectors. This includes instruments used by touring musicians, objects and collections loaned between museums, and sporting equipment taken to competitive events.
- 40. As part of the accord, the UK would like to explore options to build on existing precedents such as the EU's Cultural Cooperation Protocols with third countries.

Creative Europe is the European Union's framework programme for support to the culture and audiovisual sectors

3.4.3 Overseas development assistance and international action

- 41. The UK is a leading global actor on international development, and continues to meet the United Nations' (UN) target of spending 0.7 per cent of Gross National Income as Official Development Assistance (ODA). 99 UK contributions, alongside those of other Member States, ensure the EU is the largest international donor of development assistance, while UK expertise helps support the efficacy of EU policy and spending.
- 42. Leaving the EU will not change the UK's commitment to support the world's poorest and most vulnerable people. Nor will it mean that the UK and the EU should stop acting together to alleviate poverty, promote peace and security, tackle migration and provide humanitarian aid. There will continue to be areas where the UK and the EU can achieve more by acting in concert than they would do alone.
- 43. The UK is therefore proposing that the future partnership includes an overseas development assistance and international action accord that provides for UK participation:
 - a. in EU development programmes and instruments; and
 - b. in EU external spending programmes.
- 44. Cooperation under this accord could take various forms. As well as UK participation in specific EU programmes and instruments, this could include involvement in individual projects under the framework of such programmes and instruments.
- 45. UK participation would require an appropriate level of influence and oversight over UK funds in line with the significant contribution and benefits that the UK brings. UK organisations should also be able to deliver EU programmes and apply for funding on an open and fair basis from programmes to which the UK contributes.
- 46. This accord would complement the consultation on foreign, defence and development policy envisaged in chapter 2.4, and be enhanced by the reciprocal exchange of expertise and personnel between UK and EU institutions.

3.4.4 Defence research and capability development

47. The UK has the largest defence budget in Europe¹⁰⁰ and the UK's defence market is one of the most open and competitive in the world. Defence capability collaboration between the UK and the EU supports the defence of Europe. It helps maintain our shared security, enhances our collective prosperity, and ensures that our defence industries continue to be globally competitive.

^{99 &#}x27;Net Official Development Assistance (Indicator)', OECD, 2017

¹⁰⁰ 'Defence expenditure of NATO countries (2010-2017)', NATO, June 2017 and 'General Government Expenditure by Function', Eurostat, March 2018

- 48. The UK is therefore proposing that the future relationship includes a defence research and capability development accord that provides for UK participation in:
 - a. research elements of EU defence programmes; and
 - b. capability development aspects of EU defence programmes.
- 49. This cooperative accord would complement UK and EU capability collaboration through the European Defence Agency (EDA) including: coordination on capability priorities and planning processes; cooperation in specific EDA projects and initiatives; and potential UK involvement in specific European Defence Fund (EDF) and Permanent Structured Cooperation (PESCO) projects, as outlined in chapter 2.4.

3.4.5 Space

- 50. The UK is home to a world leading space technologies sector which has helped drive the EU's space programmes. This brings benefits to the UK and the EU. The value of the European space sector was estimated at £37-43 billion in 2014, representing around 21 per cent of the value of the global sector.¹⁰¹ The UK and the EU should develop new arrangements for cooperation on space that support European security and mutual prosperity.
- 51. The UK is therefore proposing that the future relationship includes a space accord that:
 - a. provides for UK participation in EU strategic space projects; and
 - b. establishes channels for regular dialogue between the UK and the EU on space policy.
- 52. The UK and the EU should continue to cooperate on the development and operation of EU space programmes, including Galileo and Copernicus, and ensure the eligibility for UK entities to compete for all programme contracts on an open and fair basis, including those relating to the Galileo programme's secure elements, as set out in chapter 2.4.6.

3.5 Fishing opportunities

- 53. The seas that surround the UK are an important part of its history, economy and way of life. The commercial fishing industry and wider seafood sector are integral to coastal communities across England, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland.
- 54. On leaving the EU, the UK will become an independent coastal state under the UN Convention on the Law of the Sea (UNCLOS). As a result, the UK will control access to fish in its waters, both in territorial seas and the Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ).
- 55. While the UK will be leaving the Common Fisheries Policy (CFP), the UK is committed to working closely with Member States and other coastal states to ensure

^{&#}x27;Space Strategy for Europe', European Commission, October 2016. Original figures €46-54 billion, converted to £ using Bank of England daily spot exchange rate for 30 June 2014

sustainable management of shared stocks and the wider marine environment. The UK has long championed sustainable fishing and is committed to such cooperation in line with its international obligations under UNCLOS and the UN Fish Stocks Agreement.

- 56. As a result, the UK therefore proposes to:
 - a. agree a mechanism for annual negotiations on access to waters and fishing opportunities; and
 - b. **promote sustainable fisheries** to meet international commitments such as sustainable development goals.
- 57. In pursuing this agreement, the Government will continue working closely with the devolved administrations, Crown Dependencies and Overseas Territories. During international fisheries negotiations, the UK delegation will include representatives from each administration of the UK, as is the case now.
- 58. Access to markets for fish and fish products is dealt with separately in chapter 1.2. This approach is consistent with international fisheries agreements and with EU-third country precedents.

3.5.1 Access to waters and fishing opportunities

- 59. At present, under the CFP's principle of 'Relative Stability', the UK receives a fixed share of fishing opportunities based on historical fishing patterns in 1973-1978. On average, between 2012 and 2016, UK vessels landed approximately 90,000 tonnes¹⁰³ of fish each year caught in other Member States' waters, and other Member States' vessels caught in the region of 760,000 tonnes¹⁰⁴ of fish each year in UK waters.
- 60. As an independent coastal state, the UK will have control over access to its waters from the end of the implementation period. Any decisions about giving access to UK waters for vessels from the EU, or any other coastal states will be a matter for negotiation.
- 61. The UK, the EU and coastal states should agree to annual negotiations on access rights and fishing opportunities for UK, EU and coastal state fleets. This could include multi-annual agreements for appropriate stocks.
- 62. The UK will seek to move from relative stability towards a more scientific method for informing future Total Allowable Catch (TAC) shares. Further, non-UK registered vessels granted access to fish in UK waters would also need to meet the same requirements as UK fleets across all UK fishing zones, including adherence to sustainable practices.

¹⁰² 'Sustainable Fisheries for future generations: consultation document', DEFRA, July 2018

^{103 &#}x27;UK sea fisheries annual statistics report 2016', Marine Management Organisation, September 2017

^{104 &#}x27;EU landings from UK territorial waters and EEZ,' Marine Management Organisation, July 2018

3.5.2 Promoting sustainable fisheries

- 63. The UK has long championed sustainable fishing and marine conservation and will continue to apply the maximum sustainable yield (MSY) principle. Further to our commitments under United Nations Sustainable Development Goal 14, the UK will continue to work with European partners to regulate fishing and to set harvest rates that restore and maintain fish stocks. The UK remains fully committed to ending the wasteful discarding of fish.
- 64. After the UK leaves the EU, the Government will publish an annual assessment on the state of stocks of interest and our approach to setting fishing opportunities for the year ahead. If particular stocks are becoming depleted, the Government will work with all interested parties to draw up and implement recovery plans.
- 65. The Government will work closely with the devolved administrations, Crown Dependencies and Overseas Territories who are responsible for conservation measures for stocks concentrated in their territorial waters.

Chapter 4 – Institutional arrangements

4.1 Summary

- 1. A relationship as deep as the one that the UK envisages will require a broad range of cooperation between the UK and the EU in the future. In order to ensure that this cooperation can function properly, that the relationship is transparent and accountable and that the trust established through the commitments made by both parties is maintained, there will need to be a new set of institutional and governance arrangements.
- 2. These institutional arrangements should ensure that the relationship is:
 - a. **practical and flexible**, so that it can support a wide range of economic and security cooperation;
 - b. managed effectively through **new forms of dialogue**, so that it is sustainable;
 - c. operational on a day-to-day basis, through **administrative provisions** and a proper parliamentary process;
 - d. robust, with a mechanism for **addressing disputes** so they can be resolved fairly and quickly; and
 - e. **accountable at home**, so that people and businesses in the UK and the EU can be confident that their rights will be protected.
- 3. These arrangements should reflect that the UK will no longer be a member of the EU. The EU institutions, including the Court of Justice of the European Union (CJEU), will no longer have the power to make laws for the UK and the principles of direct effect and of the supremacy of EU law will no longer apply in the UK. The new institutional arrangements should respect the UK's sovereignty and the EU's autonomy, and be sufficiently rigorous such that people across the UK and its wider family, and across the EU and its Member States can depend on them.

4.2 A practical and flexible partnership

- 4. To ensure that the future relationship between the UK and the EU is consistent and coherent, it should be structured around an overarching institutional framework. While the legal base that would need to be cited under the EU Treaties would be for the EU to determine, and would depend on the content of the institutional framework, precedent suggests that the UK's proposal would take the form of an Association Agreement between the UK and the EU.
- 5. The future relationship is likely to consist of a number of separate agreements, each covering different elements of economic, security and cross-cutting cooperation. The details of each individual agreement will be subject to negotiation with the EU, but some should be legally binding, for instance, components of the economic partnership such as a core Free Trade Agreement (FTA) and of the security partnership such as internal security, while others should be based on political

- 6. This framework should also facilitate many of the different forms of dialogue that would manage and administer the relationship, with a Governing Body providing political direction and a Joint Committee to underpin its technical and administrative functions. These are discussed further in the next section, and summarised in figure 1.
- 7. To ensure that the relationship is sustainable, the UK and the EU should also build in two elements of flexibility. First, both parties should ensure that the relationship is adaptable and can change over time, with the option for additional agreements to be added to the framework where this would facilitate new cooperation. Second, specific agreements should be able to sit outside of the overarching framework if this meant that they would function better for legal or operational reasons, for instance, to bring them into force quickly, or because specific governance arrangements were required. All international agreements are of course entered into voluntarily and either party should be able to withdraw if they decided to do so, with consideration given to the merits of a mechanism allowing the provisions of an agreement to be reviewed. There should also be specific provisions that ensure any termination of an agreement between the UK and the EU was managed in a smooth and orderly way.
- 8. The UK's proposed structure draws on precedents from other international agreements, which all have some form of institutional architecture. For instance, the EU-Canada Comprehensive Economic and Trade Agreement (CETA) and the EU-Ukraine Association Agreement include an overarching institutional structure, while the North American Free Trade Agreement establishes a Free Trade Commission and provides for a system of international arbitration for disputes, and the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) trade in goods agreement is managed by an ASEAN Free Trade Area Council. The EU and Switzerland are also currently in negotiations over a new institutional framework agreement.

Figure 1. Structure of the future partnership



The Governing Body would provide for leaders and ministers from the UK and EU to give direction to the development of the future to the relationship were necessary, and ensuring accountability relationship - making decisions about how and when changes to our Parliaments.

GOVERNING BODY

The Joint Committee would be accountable to the Governing Body and ensure that the agreements operate effectively, manage the processes

JOINT COMMITTEE

for legislative changes, and propose new cooperation as necessary. Cross-Cutting Cooperation would each consist of a number of different chapters or agreements, covering a broad range of issues. The majority of these chapters or agreements would The Economic Partnership, Security Partnership and

> **CROSS-CUTTING** COOPERATION

PARTNERSHIP SECURITY

PARTNERSHIP ECONOMIC

G

۵

⋖

fall under the overarching institutional structure...



Ü

... but some agreements would sit outside of the overarching framework with their own governance arrangements, where this made sense.

4.3 New forms of dialogue

- 9. The UK's vision for how firms, individuals and public authorities will cooperate with their EU counterparts in future, whether related to aviation, pharmaceutical products entering respective markets, or how authorities share data on criminal suspects, will require dialogue between the UK and the EU at a political and technical level. This will ensure that the cooperation that is agreed as part of the relationship is kept up to date, and works not just over the next five years, but beyond.
- 10. Dialogue between the UK and the EU will mean that the relationship itself can evolve and respond to changing circumstances. This could be a new technology, where agreement may be needed on how the product or service could be sold into each other's markets, or a new shared threat, which requires joint working to exchange time-sensitive information or new capabilities.
- 11. This dialogue will need to take place at different levels, in different formats and cover a broad range of issues, through a Governing Body at leader and ministerial level; through a Joint Committee, including sub-committees where relevant, at a technical level; through formal consultation between experts on regulatory issues and legislative changes; and through exchanges between the UK Parliament and the European Parliament.

4.3.1 Setting direction through a Governing Body

- 12. To set the strategic direction for the future relationship and make decisions at the highest level, a new Governing Body should be established. This would be a political body that would give leaders and ministers a forum in which they would:
 - a. set the direction for the future relationship;
 - b. discuss and determine if, how and when changes to the relationship were necessary; and
 - c. provide transparency and accountability.
- 13. In line with the breadth of the relationship and to ensure unforeseen challenges could be dealt with quickly, the Governing Body should meet biannually at leader level, including at least once between the UK Prime Minister and the heads of state and governments of the Member States of the EU as well as the presidents of the EU institutions, with additional ad hoc formal and informal ministerial dialogue as necessary.
- 14. This would enable the UK and the EU to coordinate responses to new global crises or to change approach in response to shifting objectives over time. It would also reflect the UK's and the EU's status as key global players, and ensure that where it is appropriate, the UK's and the EU's shared values could be projected on the world stage. This would include discussion of coordinated action beyond the UK-EU relationship. This could relate to foreign policy, defence or development objectives, or international standards, where the UK and the EU may choose to coordinate activity.

15. In line with the Memorandum of Understanding and Supplementary Agreements between the UK Government, the Scottish Ministers, the Welsh Ministers, and the Northern Ireland Executive, the UK Government will represent the interests of all parts of the UK in this forum, ensuring that the interests of the devolved administrations are taken into account.

4.3.2 Technical discussion through the Joint Committee

- 16. To ensure that relevant parts of the future relationship function effectively, officials from the UK and the EU should meet for detailed discussions through a Joint Committee, and sub-committees where appropriate. This is a common feature of international agreements in this respect and would:
 - a. steer the development of the future relationship, as agreed by the Governing Body;
 - b. manage and monitor the implementation of the future relationship;
 - c. resolve disputes related to the future relationship; and
 - d. provide additional administrative functions related to the future relationship.
- 17. The Joint Committee would be directed by the Governing Body and make recommendations to it on whether changes were needed to improve the functioning of the relationship. Where provided for under the future relationship, the Joint Committee would also be able to make decisions that would facilitate the implementation of the various components of the relationship, and manage issues that arise.
- 18. In order to manage and monitor the implementation of the future relationship, the Joint Committee would also provide a forum for the UK and the EU to share information and views. This could relate to legislative changes and the processes in place to ensure that commitments related to rules and regulations were managed effectively and implemented correctly in the respective domestic contexts in the UK and the EU. Alongside this joint surveillance, the UK authorities would monitor the UK's compliance, as they do now, to ensure that the UK is meeting its international obligations.
- 19. Through regular and structured dialogue, the Joint Committee would be designed to prevent disputes from arising, whether related to implementation, enforcement or compliance. However, in the unlikely event that such disputes did arise, the Joint Committee would facilitate their resolution. The process for how this should work is detailed later in this chapter.

4.3.3 Parliament to Parliament discussions

20. The relationships between the UK Parliament and the European Parliament and national parliaments in Member States are of course for the two Houses to determine. Both Houses and their committees have existing networks and relationships in this respect, which are expected to continue. Given the importance of these relationships, the UK Government will play its part in supporting them.

21. Therefore, alongside the role that the UK legislatures will play in the implementation of the future relationship in the UK, a regular and formal dialogue between the UK Parliament and the European Parliament should be established. This would enable legislatures, where they saw fit, to share views and expertise on a wide range of issues, from the functioning of the future relationship and its development, to specific legislative changes that might be relevant. It should also build on the existing precedents for cooperation, including between Parliamentary Committees and their European Parliament and Member State equivalent counterparts. This cooperation will be supplemented by arrangements for the formal role of the UK Parliament, proposals for which are set out in chapter 4.6.

4.3.4 Consultation over legislative proposals

22. In areas where the UK commits to a common rulebook, where the UK makes an upfront choice to commit to ongoing harmonisation with the relevant EU rules and requirements, it will be important for the UK to be able to share its views with the EU as those EU rules are developed. While the UK would not have a vote on relevant rule changes, its experts should be consulted on the same basis as Member States in line with the existing arrangements the EU has with third countries. As part of that process, the UK Government could also seek the opinion of the relevant domestic UK legislatures. Proposed arrangements for this are covered in chapter 4.6.

4.4 Administrative provisions

- 23. To ensure the future relationship is administered effectively, the UK and the EU will need to agree arrangements for regulatory cooperation. This includes:
 - a. an upfront choice to maintain a common rulebook with the EU, in particular, in relation to the free trade area for goods; and
 - b. a recognition that some rules are equivalent.
- 24. By making firm commitments, the UK and the EU would agree to establish a new free trade area for goods; the access that should be provided to firms and individuals to provide services in each others' markets; provisions related to socio-economic cooperation; and the arrangements for how the UK and the EU will jointly combat security threats.
- 25. Where the UK has made these commitments, the governance and institutional arrangements would need to ensure that:
 - a. there is technical dialogue in the Joint Committee to oversee the application of legislative and regulatory commitments;
 - b. where there is a common rulebook, these rules can be relied on by individuals and businesses and enforced by UK and EU courts in the same way, because they have been **interpreted consistently**; and
 - c. there are arrangements in place for UK **participation in EU bodies and agencies**, where this is required for the agreed cooperation to take place.

26. Resource and administrative commitments would be necessary to ensure that the governance arrangements in the future relationship are robust enough to support the breadth of cooperation that would be in the interests of the UK and the EU. This will ensure that the rights of both parties are properly protected over time.

4.4.1 Application of legislative and regulatory commitments

- 27. There should be a clear process to manage the regulatory and legislative changes that result from the commitments in the future relationship between the UK and the EU. This would differ between rule changes that relate to different elements of cooperation, but would follow the same sequence of steps.
- 28. First, the UK and the EU would notify each other through the Joint Committee of any proposed and adopted legislative proposals, where these were related to specific commitments in the future relationship. Either the UK or the EU could request an initial discussion in the Joint Committee if this were necessary.
- 29. Second, the Joint Committee would agree on whether the rule changes were in scope of the future relationship and whether the relevant agreement may need to be updated to reflect this change.
- 30. Third, where changes were in scope, there would be a period of consultation and adaptation in the Joint Committee. This would include a decision between the UK and the EU about whether the relevant rule change should be added to the agreement. There would therefore always be an option for the rule not to be added.
 - a. Where the UK had committed to retain a common rulebook with the EU, the Joint Committee would need to agree on whether the proposed EU rule change should be incorporated into the agreement.
 - i. If the UK and the EU agreed that the change should be adopted, this would be reflected in the relevant agreement, taking into account any necessary adaptations for its functioning in the UK context.
 - ii. If the UK and the EU could not agree, the Joint Committee should consider all other possibilities and endeavour to maintain the functioning of the relevant agreement, including the possibility to recognise the equivalence of legislation. If this was not possible after a defined period and an imbalance was created, proportionate and where possible localised rebalancing measures could be proposed, for instance, requesting financial compensation. Where there was no agreement over these measures, or they were not possible, the relevant part of the future relationship could be suspended.
 - b. Where the UK and the EU had recognised within the future relationship that their rules were equivalent, the Joint Committee would consider whether a proposed new or amended UK rule remained equivalent with the EU's existing rule, or an existing UK rule remained equivalent to a proposed new or amended EU rule. This would not apply to the parties' autonomous equivalence regimes, which would continue to operate outside of any legal agreements between the UK and the EU.

- If the Joint Committee determined that equivalence was maintained, this would be reflected in the agreements.
- ii. If the Joint Committee determined that the rules were no longer equivalent, the UK could propose an alternative rule to maintain equivalence or the Joint Committee could seek to agree a different solution for maintaining equivalence.
- iii. If the Joint Committee could not agree on equivalence, there should be the option of recourse to independent arbitration for a binding ruling.
- iv. If the UK decided to accept that rules were no longer equivalent, this could create an imbalance, and the EU could propose proportionate and where possible localised rebalancing measures, for instance, requesting financial compensation. Where there was no agreement over these measures, or they were not possible, the relevant part of the future relationship could be suspended.
- 31. Finally, if an agreement had been updated to reflect a rule change, this would become a binding obligation on both parties in international law. The agreed rule changes would also need to be given effect in UK law through domestic legislation. The UK Parliament would scrutinise this legislation in accordance with normal legislative procedure, respecting the principle that a sovereign Parliament has complete control over domestic law. This means that the UK Parliament could decide not to give effect to the change in domestic law, but this would be in the knowledge that it would breach the UK's international obligations, and the EU could raise a dispute and ultimately impose non-compliance measures.
- 32. In deciding whether and how to deal with differences as they arise, the UK would of course be conscious of a number of factors, including its commitments to Northern Ireland.

4.4.2 Ensuring consistent interpretation

- 33. The rights stemming from the future relationship would be enforced in the UK by UK courts and in the EU by EU courts. However, to ensure that businesses and citizens have confidence in the rules and regulations that affect them, there should be consistent interpretation of the agreements in the UK and the EU. So when courts in the UK or the EU interpret provisions of national legislation intended to give effect to the agreements, they could take into account the relevant case law of the courts of the other party. This would continue to respect the independence of the different courts.
- 34. To support this, it will be important for both parties to encourage and facilitate dialogue between the judiciaries of the UK and the EU. The Joint Committee should also keep under review the case law of both the senior courts of the UK and the CJEU, where this was relevant to the interpretation of the agreements. If significant divergences were found between respective courts' interpretation of the agreements, the Joint Committee could be empowered to act to preserve the consistent interpretation of the agreements.

35. Where the UK had agreed to retain a common rulebook with the EU, the UK would commit by treaty that its courts would pay due regard to CJEU case law, insofar as this was relevant to the matter before them. UK courts would not, however, be able to make preliminary references to the CJEU. Once the UK has left the EU, such references would no longer be appropriate or necessary. This would not affect consistent interpretation of a common rulebook, which would be delivered through the commitment to pay due regard to case law. The proposal for a common rulebook relates to areas of EU law where there is already a body of case law stretching back for decades.

4.4.3 Participation in bodies and agencies

- 36. To fulfil the aims set out in this paper across the economic and security partnerships, the UK should continue to participate in certain EU bodies and agencies. UK participation would be important for different reasons, but could relate to enabling mutual recognition of standards, sharing essential expertise and personnel, and exchanging data and information.
- 37. The nature and structure of the UK's participation will vary depending on the EU body or agency in question. In some cases, there may be an appropriate precedent for third country involvement, as in the case of Switzerland's participation in the European Aviation Safety Agency (EASA). In other cases, such as the European Medicines Agency (EMA) and Europol, the future relationship should go beyond existing third country provisions, in line with the depth and breadth of the proposed relationship.
- 38. Where the UK participated in EU bodies or agencies, this would involve a number of commitments. First, it may be appropriate for the UK to make a financial contribution, the form and structure of which would depend on the type of working relationship agreed. Second, the UK would respect the rules under which those bodies or agencies operated. Third, the UK would respect the remit of the CJEU such that if there was a challenge to a decision made by an agency that affected the UK, this could be resolved by the CJEU, noting that this would not involve giving the CJEU jurisdiction over the UK.

4.5 Resolving disputes

39. The institutional framework should prevent disputes arising but in the unlikely event that they did, it should be designed in a way that facilitates dialogue. But where international agreements include binding commitments on the parties, it is important that they include provisions to ensure that formal disputes over these commitments can be resolved quickly and fairly. To provide as much legal certainty as possible, the future relationship should also outline the potential implications of a party not complying with these commitments. Further, to ensure that both parties can respond to unforeseen shocks, whether economic, social, environmental or security related, the future relationship should include provisions for how the agreements would allow both the UK and the EU to respond.

4.5.1 The mechanisms for resolving disputes

- 40. The different types of dialogue between leaders and experts should ensure that cooperation is maintained without issues arising. However, in those few circumstances where informal discussions did not resolve a particular issue, a formal dispute would be raised in the Joint Committee.
- 41. Should efforts to resolve a dispute by negotiation fail after a defined period of time, it would make sense in some cases for either party to have the option of referring the issue to an independent arbitration panel, which would include members from both parties. In some instances, the arbitration panel might include specialist expertise such as where a dispute required detailed sectoral knowledge. This would ensure that there was fair, prompt and independent resolution, with the decision of the panel binding on the parties. The merits of whether this should be an option should be assessed on a case by case basis across different forms of cooperation.
- 42. Where the UK and the EU had agreed to retain a common rulebook, it is possible that a dispute could relate to whether these rules had been interpreted correctly. The UK recognises that only the CJEU can bind the EU on the interpretation of EU law, and therefore in these instances, there should be the option for a referral to the CJEU for an interpretation, either by mutual consent from the Joint Committee, or from the arbitration panel. The CJEU would only have a role in relation to the interpretation of those EU rules to which the UK had agreed to adhere as a matter of international law. The Joint Committee or arbitration panel would have to resolve the dispute in a way that was consistent with this interpretation. This would respect the principle that the court of one party cannot resolve disputes between the two.
- 43. This process would be separate to other routes the parties might have for resolving disputes in other international agreements. For instance, the parties could choose whether to raise a dispute through the WTO, where relevant, or through the process set out above.

4.5.2 Dealing with non-compliance

- 44. Once an agreement is reached between the UK and the EU on the shape of the future relationship, there is no reason to expect that either party will break the commitments the UK and the EU have made to each other. However, as is normal in international agreements, the UK and the EU will still need to agree on what should happen if one party is in breach of the agreements. Of course in parts of the future relationship where the UK does not make binding commitments, non-compliance would not be relevant.
- 45. There are two main scenarios where non-compliance might happen. First, if a dispute was not resolved by the Joint Committee within a defined period of time and the agreement did not provide the option for the dispute to be passed to independent arbitration. Second, if either the UK or the EU considered that the other party had not complied with a decision made by the Joint Committee or arbitration panel within a reasonable period of time.

- 46. In either of these situations, the complaining party should be able to take measures to mitigate any harm caused by the breach. To ensure that they are fair, and do not unnecessarily disrupt cooperation, these measures should be:
 - a. proportionate to the scale of the breach;
 - b. temporary, and only in effect for, or related to, the period of non-compliance; and
 - c. localised to the extent possible to the area of the future relationship that the dispute concerned.
- 47. The type of measures that could be imposed for different sorts of breaches would be technical, but could include financial penalties or suspension of specific obligations. The proportionality and duration of such temporary measures should be subject to challenge through independent arbitration. If the offending party failed to comply with the finding of the independent arbitration panel, the only option available to the complaining party would be to suspend parts of the future relationship on a temporary basis. This should only be considered as a last resort.
- 48. The parties should commit to give priority to those measures which cause the least damage to the functioning of the future relationship, as this would be in the interests of citizens and businesses across the UK and the EU.
- 49. By way of example, the US has included financial compensation in eleven free trade agreements, including US-Australia, and the EEA Agreement has a provision for suspension. Consideration should also be given to whether defined consequences could be included within the agreements, such as predetermined reductions in market access where the UK relied on a provision in the agreements allowing it not to apply every aspect of EU rules.

4.5.3 Safeguarding against shocks

- 50. The UK and the EU are expected to maintain the commitments that they make in the future relationship. However, there may be times where unexpected events mean that the parties need to respond quickly, and with provisions that would otherwise be in breach of the agreements. This would apply in circumstances of significant economic, societal or environmental difficulties.
- 51. It will be important for the future relationship to recognise that in these circumstances, there should be provision for temporary action to be taken, without breaching the relevant agreement. But to ensure that the future relationship is still fair, if the action resulted in one party gaining an undue competitive advantage, the other party would have the right to take steps to rebalance the agreement. Any measures would be subject to challenge through independent arbitration.

4.6 Accountability at home

52. A core objective of the institutional provisions set out in this section is to ensure that there is accountability. The role of the UK Parliament and the devolved legislatures is integral to this process. This section sets out how such accountability will be assured.

- 53. First, the agreements that the UK will conclude with the EU will require domestic legislation to give them effect in the UK. The UK Parliament will need therefore to consent to the proposals, including for a common rulebook in specific areas.
- 54. Second, where these proposals relate to ongoing cooperation between the UK and the EU, the UK Parliament would also have a role in overseeing and scrutinising any legislative proposals. In areas where the UK had committed to maintain a common rulebook with the EU, the UK Parliament's role in the proposed system would work as follows.
 - a. Notification: if the EU proposed a change to the rules related to the agreements, the UK would be notified through the Joint Committee and the UK Government would inform the UK Parliament.
 - b. Scope: in determining whether the rule change was in scope of the agreements in the Joint Committee, the UK Parliament would have the opportunity to provide the Government with its opinion.
 - c. Consultation and adaptation: there would be a decision in the Joint Committee about whether to add a rule change to the relevant agreement, and whether technical adaptations were required for the UK context. There would be a process for the UK Parliament to be consulted.
 - d. Legislation: following consultation and adaptation, if the Joint Committee had agreed to adopt a rule change into the relevant annex of the agreement, the UK Parliament would be notified with an explanatory memorandum ahead of any domestic legislative proposals coming forward. The UK Parliament would then scrutinise any legislation to bring the proposals into UK law. As would be its right, the UK Parliament could ultimately decide not to pass the legislation, but it would be in the knowledge that there would be consequences from breaking the UK's international obligations, as there would be for any international treaty, potentially for market access, border frictions or security cooperation.
- 55. The UK Government will work with the UK Parliament to ensure that both Houses have the mechanisms they need to properly scrutinise proposed changes to UK law, whether to primary or secondary legislation. The Government has already demonstrated during the passage of the EU (Withdrawal) Bill that it will actively engage with suggestions from both Houses about the oversight of secondary legislation, adapting scrutiny arrangements as appropriate, and recognising the quality and expertise in the existing scrutiny structures in the Commons and the Lords.
- 56. Some changes to common rules will be within devolved competence. In those circumstances, there will also be a role for the devolved administrations and legislatures in shaping the UK Government's position ahead of discussions in the Joint Committee, and in ensuring that changes to common rules are reflected in law across the UK. The UK Government will work with the devolved administrations to ensure that processes are put into place which reflect the devolution settlements and provide for appropriate input from all parts of the UK.
- 57. A similar process would take place in relation to areas where the UK and the EU had agreed that there was equivalence between respective rules.

- 58. This process should give confidence to people across the UK that wherever the UK had agreed that there should be cooperation with the EU, whether related to the trade or the economic relationship, or law enforcement and criminal justice, this decision would have been taken by elected representatives accountable to the people of the UK.
- 59. This also means that the future relationship would be consistent with the UK's commitment to deliver for the whole UK family, including the devolved administrations, and the Governments of the Overseas Territories and the Crown Dependencies. The future relationship with the EU will have implications for the existing structures of Joint Ministerial Committees being discussed as part of the joint review of Intergovernmental Relations. The UK Government will work with the devolved administrations to ensure that any modifications to the existing arrangements reflect the new relationship between the UK and the EU. The UK Government will continue to engage with the Governments of the Crown Dependencies and Overseas Territories through the Joint Ministerial Councils and the Chief Ministers' Quarterly.

Conclusion and next steps

Conclusion

- 1. This White Paper has set out the UK's proposal for a principled and practical Brexit, following the decision of the people of the UK to leave the EU. The Government believes that this proposal is the right one for both sides, striking a new balance of rights and obligations.
- 2. Taken together, the package presented in this White Paper would:
 - a. deliver for the economy, preserving frictionless trade at the border for goods and making sure that the UK is best placed to capitalise on the industries of the future in line with the modern Industrial Strategy, striking new trade deals with old friends and new allies;
 - meet the needs of communities, ending free movement, taking the UK out of the Common Agricultural Policy and the Common Fisheries Policy, and supporting regeneration through the Shared Prosperity Fund, while preserving vital cooperation to tackle crime and terrorism;
 - c. protect the union, avoiding the need for any hard border between Northern Ireland and Ireland, preserving the constitutional and economic integrity of the UK, and meeting the needs of the wider UK family, including the Crown Dependencies and the Overseas Territories;
 - d. strengthen the UK's democracy, returning accountability to the elected representatives who make the UK's laws in London, Edinburgh, Cardiff and Belfast, and ending the jurisdiction of the CJEU in the UK; and
 - e. support the UK's stepping out into the world, asserting a fully independent foreign policy and working alongside the EU to promote and protect shared European values.
- 3. In short, this is a Brexit which will deliver in full on the democratic decision of the people of the UK, and work for the whole country.

Next steps

- 4. On the basis of the proposal set out in this White Paper, the UK's negotiating team will now engage with the EU's at pace, in order to conclude the Article 50 negotiations this autumn. This means finalising both the Withdrawal Agreement and the framework for the future relationship (the 'Future Framework').
- 5. The UK and the EU have been clear that the Withdrawal Agreement and the Future Framework form a package. Article 50 sets out that the terms of the UK's withdrawal from the EU must be agreed taking account of the framework for the future relationship, and the EU's guidelines of March 2018 confirmed that, in line with Article 50, this political declaration will accompany and be referred to in the Withdrawal Agreement. The UK and the EU have also been clear that 'nothing is agreed until

- everything is agreed' meaning that neither document can be considered final until this is true of both.
- Once the UK and the EU have reached agreement on the Withdrawal Agreement 6. and the Future Framework, under the terms of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018, there will be a debate in both Houses of the UK Parliament. If the House of Commons supports a resolution to approve the Withdrawal Agreement and the Future Framework, the Government will bring forward the Withdrawal Agreement and Implementation Bill to give the Withdrawal Agreement legal effect in the UK. In the EU, the European Parliament must give its consent to the conclusion of the Withdrawal Agreement. The UK and the EU have a shared ambition to agree both documents by October in order to give sufficient time for their respective Parliaments to give their approval before the UK leaves the EU on 29 March 2019.
- 7. Recognising that the EU is only able legally to conclude agreements giving effect to the future relationship once the UK has left the EU in March 2019, the Withdrawal Agreement should include an explicit commitment by both parties to finalise these legal agreements as soon as possible in accordance with the parameters set out in the Future Framework, in order to achieve a smooth transition out of the implementation period and into the future relationship.

CORRECTION SLIP

Title: The future relationship between the United Kingdom and the **European Union**

Session: 2017/2019

Cm 9593

ISBN: 978-1-5286-0701-8

Correction: Page 25, paragraph 47

Text did read:

In 2017, 21 per cent of EU27 services imports came from the UK, and 20 per cent of EU27 services exports went to the UK.

Text now reads:

In 2017, 20 per cent of EU27 services imports came from the UK, and 21per cent of EU27 services exports went to the UK.

Correction: Page 40, paragraph 122

Text did read:

the UK ranks third in the International Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans and Intersex Association (ILGA)...

Text now reads:

the UK ranks fourth in the International Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Trans and Intersex Association (ILGA)...

Correction: Page 40, footnote 37

Text did read:

Rainbow Europe', ILGA-Europe, 2017 data - the UK is second to Malta in the EU28

Text now reads:

Rainbow Europe', ILGA-Europe, 2017 data - the UK is second to Malta in the EU28. 'Gender Equality Index 2017', European Institute for Gender Equality, 2015 data.

Correction: Page 81, paragraph 49

Text did read:

European Development Fund

Text now reads:

European Defence Fund

Month of correction: March 2019